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Chairman’s 
Report
Dear Shareholders

I am pleased to present the 2021 Annual Financial Report and Financial Statements of The SA SME Fund Limited. 

The year under review was shaped by seemingly continual unpredictability and tremendous disruption. It  

demanded of individuals untold resilience and grit. We were forced to adapt quickly to new ways of working and 

new ways of living, and to reflect deeply. 

The national narrative was mostly negative, focusing on deepening problems of poverty, corruption, poor economic 

growth, and unemployment. However, it was also a time of incredible innovation: new generations of vaccines 

targeting Covid-19 were developed and manufactured in record time off the back of unprecedented global  

collaboration within the scientific community and between the public and private sectors. South Africa’s medical 

and scientific community gained worldwide acclaim. And new business models were born to meet the needs of 

locked-down and socially distanced customers.

This ability to adapt and innovate are hallmarks of successful entrepreneurs. Entrepreneurs are not reliant on 

booming economies. Rather, they are economy agnostic and thrive in highly dynamic environments. Economic 

cycles come and go. When economies turn down, entrepreneurs turn up. It is in these difficult times that  

entrepreneurs invest and build. In the last year, the business climate has been particularly hostile to small  

businesses. Ironically, it’s also in this sector that we’ve seen some of the most impressive innovation. Take Hyrax 

Biosciences – a University Technology Fund portfolio company, which developed Exatype, a cloud-based software 

platform that aims to transform the cost, accuracy and scalability of genetic diagnostics. The pandemic provided  

the Hyrax team with an opportunity, and currently the majority of COVID variant diagnostic testing done in South 

Africa is conducted using the Exatype platform.

Entrepreneurs know better than most that if you plan to build a business you have to be optimistic – especially 

in tough economic and emotional times. It’s when others are distracted and ambivalent that entrepreneurs find 

opportunities. Take Welo Health, an early-stage startup in the Grindstone portfolio, that accelerated their growth 

as home visit health services were required when the pandemic hit, and they were well placed to fill this gap for 

some of the larger health care providers. Or OneCart, a retail home delivery service, also past participants of the 

Grindstone and Endeavor programmes. During the pandemic, they scaled massively, with daily orders increasing 

by 500%. The founders were able to capitalize on this success by selling a large stake to, and partnering with an 

established larger retail player. 

What the Covid pandemic has demonstrated is that as South Africans we have an amazing capacity to solve  

problems, and are remarkably robust. Our problems are not intractable. Right now what we need is more positivity 

and confidence that we can address our challenges. We need to better understand our potential.  Far from being 

a failing state, we’re relevant globally, and an African powerhouse.  
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A couple of data points: our provinces square up against other countries in terms of GDP: Gauteng is bigger than 

Kenya, and the Western Cape is almost the size of Jordan. Our pension fund assets make up 75% of the pension 

fund assets in Africa; and our market enables substantial companies to be built. 

We’re a resilient country: underperforming, yes; but with potential and a dream worth nurturing. We need to 

change our narrative from decline to transition, from pessimism to opportunity. This is how change happens.  

Attitude drives fundamentals, not the other way around.

The Fund’s impact is starting to become apparent, and we expect it to emerge even more clearly over the next  

few years. The detail is in the CEO Report and Impact Report. The key take-out is that we’ve made good  

progress against our 6 core impact goals, (1) grow the South African Venture Capital Industry – the Fund has  

created and provided anchor investments to 5 new VC funds, with over R640 million committed;  

(2) commercialise and showcase South African Intellectual Property – this has been achieved primarily through  

the origination of and commitment of R150 million to the University Technology Fund (UTF), the first VC 

fund in Africa focusing on the commercialisation of IP developed in universities; (3) create and incubate  

new, mainly Black fund managers – achieved by seeding three new Black first-time fund managers (DAV,  

E4E and SummerPlace), and together with SAVCA and FNB, developing and managing the flagship  

Fund Manager Development Programme (FMDP) – with an initial cohort of 11 mostly black and female  

fund managers, and a second cohort to be selected for 2022; (4) leverage additional capital for investing  

in SMEs - over R700 million in third party funding has been raised by the Fund’s portfolio fund  

managers post our investments; (5) Help scale innovative SMEs – implemented primarily via partnerships  

with the Grindstone Accelerator (19 companies participated in the 2020 cohort, collectively raising R42m) 

the CEO Circle; and Endeavor Local Scale-Up (18 high growth tech-enabled SMEs); and (6) build the narrative 

of Business as a national asset – including playing a leadership role in B4SA and BUSA, and using our national 

reach to advocate for stimulating entrepreneurship. 

I am excited by what we can collectively continue to achieve. With positivity and leadership, the Fund and our 

partners can provide a platform for entrepreneurs to innovate and build great businesses that are a force for 

social good. 

On a more personal note, Dolly Mokgatle’s sudden passing in January 2021 was a sad loss for us all. I have known 

Dolly for many years -  most recently as an active member of the SA SME Fund Board.  Dolly brought a detailed  

understanding of the economic and political landscape to our Board discussions, as well as offering a more human 

lens to our decision making. She always did so in an unassuming and gracious way: never one to undermine or 

belittle – she spoke truth to power and was a person of honour, integrity, and importantly, she never forgot the 

importance of kindness.  She has been sorely missed. 

I would like to thank our shareholders, our Board members and our team for their ongoing leadership and  

unwavering belief in the power of entrepreneurship to change SA.

Best regards,

Adrian Gore

Chairman's Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021
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CEO Report
for the year ended 28 February 2021

In a year that was dominated by the COVID-19 pandemic, lockdowns and economic unrest, the Company’s 
portfolio of investments has emerged relatively unscathed. There were, of course, a small number 
of companies within the wider portfolio that suffered as a result of lockdowns, school closures and  
restrictions on social gatherings. However, most of our companies, with the support of the fund managers, 
have managed to cut operating costs and strategically pivot their businesses to survive the crisis. 

During the year the Company completed its investment programme, committing R160 million to two  
new Venture Capital funds, Digital Africa Ventures Fund I and E4E Africa Fund I, and investing R100 million 
in purchase order finance company ProfitShare Partners. In addition, further commitments were made to  
KNF Ventures and A2Pay Financial Services. 

The Company also received a new investment grant of R25 million from the Department of Science and 
Innovation’s (DSI) recently established Innovation Fund. The purpose of the grant is to invest seed capital 
into promising early-stage businesses within the Company’s portfolio. The SA SME Fund is the only  
private sector organisation to be awarded this grant and it is testament to the Company’s track record  
as a key player in growing the Venture Capital market.

As one of the largest institutional investors in Venture Capital, the Company continues to leverage its 
position to assist our portfolio funds to raise additional capital. Post the SA SME Fund’s investment, more 
than R700 million in third party funding has been raised by our portfolio fund managers.

Investment review

  Growth investments

The growth pillar focuses on investing in fund managers that have experience in investing in small and 
medium size businesses and in assisting them to achieve growth and transformation. The Company has 
committed R500 million to growth funds. 

PAPE Fund 3 (PAPE): R100 million

PAPE is an established black owned, boutique private equity manager that invests in cash generative 
unlisted mid-cap companies with growth and expansion attributes. PAPE reached final close with total  
commitments of R1.03 billion. As at 28 February 2021, PAPE had drawn down R55.9 million of the  
Company’s committed capital and had invested in three portfolio companies, namely, Laser Group  
(Logistics), Singular Systems (Fintech) and Angelo Kater (Automotive Conversion).
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SummerPlace Equity Fund I (SummerPlace): R125 million

SummerPlace is a first-time Black women-owned and managed private equity fund that the Company  
has incubated. The investment focus is on established, cash generative medium sized businesses  
operating across various sectors. During the year ended 28 February 2021, SummerPlace raised an  
additional R125 million commitment from Rand Mutual Assurance (RMA) reaching a fund size of R250.5 
million at final close. SummerPlace’s investment in Old School Cool, a scholar transport business, was  
severely affected by the COVID-19 school closures and work from home directives and, subsequent to 
year end has closed down. A second investment in a logistics business was completed in June 2021. 

Masisizane Franchise Fund I: R50 million

The Company has partnered with Masisizane to establish a fund that focuses on providing debt and equity 
to experienced fuel franchisees who are seeking to operate fuel retail stations. As at 28 February 2021 
Masisizane had provided three loans totalling just under R17 million to two fuel entrepreneurs. 

Spartan SME Fund (Spartan): R100 million

Spartan is a Black-owned and led Non-Bank Financial Institution with a proven track record of providing 
specialised financing to SMEs. Its strategic aim is to back entrepreneurs to enable them to grow their  
businesses. Spartan provides a range of debt facilities to SMEs to facilitate growth, including working  
capital finance, asset based finance and medium term loans. As at 28 February 2021, Spartan has utilised 
the SA SME Fund facility to provide loans totalling R216 million to SMEs. 79.81% (R172.5 million) 
of these loans were provided to Black owned business. 

A2Pay Financial Services (A2Pay): R25 million

A2Pay provides technology solutions to the informal retail market in South Africa and, through its  
collaboration with the Jobs Fund, provides a solution to the unbanked spaza shop merchants to assist 
them to monitor the financial performance of their shops. The Company partnered with A2Pay by providing 
a R25 million loan to enable A2Pay to foster financial inclusion via the provision of loans to existing spaza 
shop owners for growth and expansion. As at 28 February 2021, A2Pay had drawn down R10 million of the 
loan facility and had provided financing to 296 Black spaza shop merchants, of which 118 are female.

ProfitShare Partners (PSP): R100 million

PSP is an innovative capital solutions company that aims to disrupt traditional transactional funding 
models to empower SMEs for growth. PSP’s strategic aim is to provide funding for small businesses to  
fulfil supply chain contracts. PSP offers solutions that allow businesses to execute on these contracts 
despite not having security or long track records. This enables these businesses to grow, and ultimately 
graduate into the formal banking sector over a period of two to three years. The Company invested  
R25 million in preference shares to allow PSP, itself an SME, to further develop its technology solutions 
to grow its business. A further R75 million in loan financing has been committed to PSP for financing of 
SMEs. At year end, PSP had drawn down R60 million of the loan financing and had financed 65, mainly 
Black owned SMEs with financing totalling R133 million.

CEO Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021
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  Venture Capital 

A strong Venture Capital (VC) industry is critical to stimulating growth and innovation in South Africa.  
The Company strives to be at the forefront of the development of the VC industry and to invest in Funds 
that are innovative and sustainable. As at 28 February 2021, the Company has invested R590 million in 
VC Funds. In addition to the commitments to VC Funds, the Company has also provided a total of R40 
million for investment by the Funds in earlier stage companies in order to stimulate pipeline growth for 
the VC sector.

KNF Ventures: R40 million

KNF Ventures is a South African S12J Venture Capital Company managed by Knife Capital and is 
an independent growth equity investment firm focusing on innovation driven ventures with proven  
traction. KNF Ventures has invested in 8 companies as at 28 February 2021, namely Quicket (Online  
ticketing), DataProphet (Machine learning), SkillUp (elearning), PharmaScout (Internet of Things), PURA  
(beverages), Cradle/Granite WMS (Warehouse SaaS), Snapplify (e-learning) and inQuba (AI driven  
Customer Journey Management software). 

Savant Venture Fund I (Savant): R100 million
Additional R10 million provided as an Incubator loan facility

Savant is a hardware and engineering focussed early-stage VC fund focussed on investing in and partnering 
with highly skilled science and technology inventors for their start-up growth journey. As at 28 February 
2021, Savant had drawn down R27.2 million of the Company’s commitment for investments in two portfolio 
companies: Smartblade (health) and Intelligent Safe (security). 

In addition to these two investments, Savant has utilised R9.5 million of the R10 million incubator loan 
facility provided by the Company to provide loans to six early stage companies, namely Jonga Systems 
(home security), Vekta Innovations (health), Astrofica Technologies (satellites), Cognitive Systems  
(AI security), Inxor (point of sale systems) and Goedertrou Biogas (Waste remediation and Biogas). 

4Di Capital Fund III (4Di): R125 million

4Di is a generalist venture capital fund investing into seed and early stage start up technology  
companies with high growth potential in verticals such as FinTech, InsureTech, EdTech and AgTech.  
As at the end of the financial year, 4Di has drawn down R35.6 million of the Company’s committed  
capital for investments in four portfolio companies: LifeQ (wearable health tech), Tagmarshall  
(golf course management), Rapydd Storage Solutions (Audio and video compression) and Cloudline  
(remote airship delivery). 

OneBio Seed Investment Fund I (OneBio): R75 million

OneBio is dedicated to investing in biotech companies and is the only biotech seed investor in Africa. 
OneBio provides early stage seed capital to biotech start-ups, focussing on those start-ups that are late 
in the research cycle and early in the product cycle. OneBio is well positioned to capitalise on the global 
growth in biotech investment opportunities driven by the falling costs of basic biology tools. At year end, 
OneBio has utilised R10 million of the Company’s committed capital and made one investment in Life-Q 
(wearable health tech).

CEO Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021
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University Technology Fund (UTF): R125 million
Additional R25 million provided for pre-seed and seed funding

The UTF has been established with the aim of investing in and commercialising Intellectual Property 
(IP) developed within South African universities. It is the first fund of its kind in South Africa and is 
based on best practice from Oxford and Cambridge universities. The two universities that the Company  
has partnered with initially are the University of Cape Town and Stellenbosch University, although 
this has been extended to other universities subsequent to year end. At year end the UTF had drawn 
down R15.9 million of the Company’s committed capital and has invested in two portfolio companies,  
namely Hyrax Biosciences and Cape BioPharms. In addition, seed funding of R5.1 million has been  
invested in 4 businesses and pre-seed funding of R2.5 million has been provided to further develop 
nine projects.

Digital Africa Ventures (DAV): R25 million

The SA SME Fund is the anchor investor in DAV, the first black female venture capital fund in 
South Africa. DAV is a generalist VC fund investing into seed and early-stage start-up technology  
companies with high growth potential. Subsequent to year end, DAV has invested R4 million in a freight 
start-up company, Tripplo.  

E4E Africa Fund I (E4E): R100 million

E4E is a new VC fund that focuses on Series A investments in companies that have achieved market  
traction. Subsequent to year end a key person event occurred that resulted in the suspension of the 
Commitment Period of the fund and the Company entered into a negotiated settlement to withdraw 
from the fund with no financial loss to the Company. We have since successfully completed our exit  
from E4E.

  Review of Ecosystem initiatives

During the year under review, the Company has contributed R13.1 million to support other initiatives 
in the SME sector. The three flagship programmes supported by the Company are the CEO Circle, the  
SAVCA Fund Manager Development Programme and Grindstone Accelerator.

CEO Circle

The CEO Circle was launched in March 2019 as part of the Company’s vision to leverage the  
collective resources of our corporate shareholder base. The goal of the CEO Circle is to help grow 5 to 
10 black founded and led high growth companies into businesses of significant scale in a period of 3 to 5 
years. The initial power of the model was impacted by COVID-19 with most corporates reducing their  
engagement with new suppliers and slowing down their approvals of new projects. Some of the initial  
cohort used the crisis to pivot and reshape their strategies around new revenue opportunities and  
accelerate their expansion outside of South Africa while others focussed on weathering the impact of 
COVID-19 and the recession in their respective industries. It is anticipated that the corporate appetite for 
this programme will remain depressed for the foreseeable future.

The Company has identified further opportunities to help scale additional high-growth businesses, and 
has partnered with Endeavor on a multi-year Local Scale Up programme which entails a twelve month 
structured programme for a select cohort of high growth businesses. More detail is provided in the  
Impact Report.

CEO Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021
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SAVCA Fund Manager Development Programme (FMDP)

The Company has partnered with the South African Venture Capital and Private Equity Association 
(SAVCA) and FNB to promote the creation of emerging Fund Managers through an innovative  
transformation initiative that aims to increase the number of black and female fund managers in  
Private Equity and VC. Throughout the programme, the prospective fund managers were personally  
and professionally developed to fast track their entry into the market and receive assistance with  
fund raising for their new funds.  Eleven fund managers completed the programme and have  
collectively raised over R1.5 billion in funding. The Company has, subsequent to year end, launched  
the second Fund Manager Development Programme, together with SAVCA, that will focus on VC  
fund managers. 

Grindstone

The Company extended its partnership with Knife Capital to support the Grindstone Accelerator  
programme, signing an agreement to support six Grindstone cohorts over a three year period.  
During the year, the first two cohorts of ten high growth technology companies each, were selected  
to participate in the programme. 

CEO Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021

  Financial review

As is to be expected at this stage in the Company’s investment programme, the primary source of  
income during the financial year was interest earned on surplus cash balances. The Company holds  
significant amounts of cash that are invested in short term deposits with Tier 1 banking institutions.  
Interest earned in the current year amounted to R39.7 million, an increase of 22% over the prior year.   
The Company's investments  accumulated returns totalling R37.8 million (2020: R25.5 million) in the  
current financial year, made up of interest on debt investments of R8.7 million, net unrealised fair  
value gains of R26 million and dividends and interest received from underlying portfolio companies  
of R3.2 million.

Total expenses were lower in the current year due primarily to lower staff costs. As a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the economic impacts thereof, the executive team subscribed to a 20% salary 
reduction for three months and no incentives or bonuses were paid for the year. The lower ecosystem 
development costs are also reflective of the impact of COVID-19 on these initiatives, some of which were 
delayed for a period of time during the year. 

Management and advisory fees are paid to the investee fund managers at rates of between 2% per annum 
and 3.36% per annum. These fees form part of the capital commitments to the funds. The increase in the 
current year is the result of the progress of the investment programme, with the Company being fully 
committed at the end of the financial year. 
 

  Looking forward

COVID-19

Due to the diversified nature of the Company’s portfolio, most of the investee funds being in the early 
stages of their commitment period and the early stage of the portfolio companies, the COVID-19 crisis 
has not had a significant effect on the Company. We expect that the impact of the crisis will be felt in  
subsequent years, in particular with respect to the timings of drawdowns of committed capital by the  
investee funds and the realisation of investments.

The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report
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Fund of Venture Capital Funds

With the Company having committed its total investable capital, and in so doing becoming one of  
the largest institutional investors in VC in South Africa, the board has given their approval to the 
team to raise a new fund dedicated to funding venture capital in South Africa. This proposed Fund of  
Venture Capital Funds will be structured as a limited liability partnership, targeting a first close of R500  
million, with the Company providing a commitment of R50 million towards a first loss provision to limit the  
potential downside to other investors and to attract more capital into the fund. In addition, the fund will 
not charge investors any fees, nor take any carry. It is anticipated that the new fund will provide capital to 
6 to 8 VC fund managers who in turn will invest across the funding spectrum including seed capital, Series 
A and Series B. Fund raising has proved to be more challenging through the COVID-19 crisis. However, the 
fund is in due diligence with a number of potential institutional and pension fund investors.

In conclusion, while the economic outlook remains uncertain, I am confident that our portfolio funds are 
well placed to be able to identify and maximise any potential investment opportunities that arise and that 
we remain on track to deliver on both our financial and impact goals. 

Tragically, in January 2022, Michael Fichardt, one of the co-founders of OneBio Seed Investment Fund 
passed away suddenly. Michael co-founded OneBio in 2017 with the vision to transform the biotech  
industry in South Africa and eventually the rest of the African continent. Mike pursued this vision with  
unwavering passion and determination. He will be fondly remembered as a driving force in the South  
African biotech industry and as a well-liked and respected colleague of The SA SME Fund. 

I would like to thank our shareholders, the board of directors, the Investment committee and the team for 
their ongoing commitment to our strategic goals and their continued support. Together we will make a 
meaningful difference to the South African SME landscape.

Ketan Gordhan
Chief Executive Officer

CEO Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021
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Remuneration 
Committee 
Report

The SA SME Fund Remuneration Committee (the Committee) is pleased to present its remuneration report 
for the year ended 28 February 2021. Since the Committee presented its report in 2020 no material 
changes were made to the SA SME Fund’s remuneration policies and the implementation thereof. 

The Remuneration Committee is constituted as a committee of the Board and has been delegated  
responsibility for ensuring the fair and responsible remuneration of the Company’s directors and senior 
executives and to make recommendations on the Company’s remuneration policies. The Committee is 
governed by terms of reference that set out its mandate and responsibilities. The Committee reports to 
the Board on a bi-annual basis. At year end, the Committee comprised three independent non-executive 
directors, namely Dr YG Muthien (Chair), Dr NJ Dlamini and Mr A Gore. Dr NJ Dlamini resigned from the 
Committee with effect from 3 May 2021. The Committee met twice during the year and approved the key 
performance indicators and remuneration and short-term incentives for the investment team, the CFO 
and the CEO. Both meetings were attended by all members of the Committee. 

  Remuneration policy

The SA SME Fund operates as a typical fund of funds in the private equity and venture capital  
industry. With R1.4 billion of capital subscriptions the Company is considered to be a large independent 
fund manager. A key metric in fund management is the management fee utilised by the fund manager to  
oversee the work of the fund over a typical 10-year period: 2 years for allocating capital, a further 4 years 
for the capital to be invested and lastly 4 to 6 years to exit the investments and return the capital. The  
typical management fee in the private equity sector is 2% per annum of total assets under management,  
while in venture capital this can increase to 3% per annum. In the case of the SA SME Fund, with just under  
R1.4 billion of capital, this 2% of assets under management equates to approximately R28 million per year 
over 10 years and we expect to operate within this framework.
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The industry standard in the private equity and venture capital industries is for professionals to be  
compensated with a base salary and a bonus as short-term incentives and a long-term incentive based  
on a share of the investment returns earned by the fund manager, usually 20% of the returns once the  
capital and a hurdle have been returned to shareholders. The SA SME Fund does not operate a long-term 
incentive scheme. 

The SA SME Fund salaries are benchmarked using industry data produced by the South African Venture 
Capital and Private Equity Association (SAVCA) in which the Company participates. The benchmark used 
to determine salaries is the 75th percentile of industry average. We believe that the 75th percentile is 
appropriate as a way to compensate individuals for the absence of a long-term incentive or share of carry 
from the compensation structure.

Salaries and short-term incentives are approved by the Remuneration Committee of the Board based on 
actual performance against performance targets. Bonuses have been capped at a maximum of 75% of the 
base salary.

  Implementation of the remuneration policy

Details of the remuneration of executive directors for the financial year ended 28 February 2021 are set 
out in note 15 of the Annual Financial Statements on page 82 of this report. The non-executive directors do 
not receive any remuneration or fees for their services to the Company. 

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the executive directors and some of the investment team subscribed 
to a 20% salary reduction for April, May and June 2020 and no short-term incentives for the year ended  
28 February 2021 were paid. 

Total compensation costs (base salary plus short term incentives) decreased from R29.3 million in 2020 to 
R17.85 million in 2021 (39.11%) due to the above factors.

The Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration policy described above in light of standard  
industry practice and is satisfied that the policy is appropriate and fair. 

YG Muthien
Chairperson

Remuneration Committee Report 
(Continued)
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Impact 
Report

Impact is in our DNA.

The SA SME Fund was borne out of a desire by corporate South Africa to stimulate economic growth in 
the country through supporting entrepreneurial activity and helping small and medium businesses scale. 
The Fund is focused on achieving six key objectives that we believe will make a significant contribution to 
achieving our founding purpose. These are:

1. Grow the South African Venture Capital (VC) Industry
2. Commercialise and showcase South African intellectual property
3. Create and incubate new, mainly Black, fund managers
4. Leverage additional capital for investing in SMEs
5. Help scale innovative SMEs
6. Build the narrative of Business as a national asset

  Grow the South African Venture Capital industry

Highlights

• Committed R640 million to Venture Capital funds
• Created and provided anchor investments to 5 new VC funds
• Participation in industry governing bodies and national policy discussions, including 
 representation on the SAVCA board of directors and the Venture Capital sub-committee
• Anchor investor in the only biotech seed fund in Africa

1
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Impact Report (Continued)

The Company’s focus on VC is driven out of the belief that Venture Capital investing is inherently  

impactful. Not only is VC the driving force behind innovation and the digital economy, but it has been 

shown to be a significant driver of economic gains and supports the growth of SMEs. VC investing  

creates new jobs by providing risk capital to high-potential organisations and in Africa, plays a vital role  

in solving local problems and enhancing global competitiveness.

Recognising that a vibrant Venture Capital industry requires the presence of a strong cohort of Fund  

Managers, the SA SME Fund has provided anchor investments to a number of  new venture capital funds 

in South Africa, including:

I.  Savant Venture Fund I (Savant): a hardware and engineering focused early-stage VC fund  

focusing on investing and partnering with highly skilled science and technology inventors for their  

start-up growth journey. Savant are active in the VC ecosystem, and have focused on building co-investment  

relationships with local and international hardware and engineering investors to build the pipeline 

of investors for future funding rounds for their investee companies such as Goedetrou Biogas,  

Intelligent Safe Technologies and Inxor.

II.  University Technology Fund (UTF): established by the SA SME Fund with the aim of investing in and 

commercializing intellectual property (IP) developed within South African universities. The UTF aims to 

co-invest with other VC funds which further develops the knowledge and deal flow in this space. The UTF 

was identified by the South African Venture Capital and Private Equity Association (SAVCA) as arguably 

the most active VC fund in SA in 2020. At year end the UTF had concluded 7 deals ranging from Seed to 

Series A, including investing in Hyrax Biosciences (Pty) Ltd (a DNA sequence analysis software company 

that has played a significant role in Covid-19 variant discovery in SA), Stellenbosch Nanofiber Company  

(a nanofibre manufacturing business finding traction in the global cosmetics industry), and Cape Bio  

Pharms (a plant-based platform that produces a range of recombination proteins for medical research).

III.  Digital Africa Ventures (DAV): a first time Black female owned and managed generalist VC fund  

investing into seed and early stage start up technology companies with high growth potential.   

DAV’s first investment, Tripplo was named Fast Company SA’s most innovative company for 2021  

and took the top spot at the SAVCA VC Showcase 2021 Awards.

IV.  OneBio Seed Investment Fund I (OneBio): provides early-stage seed capital to biotech startups,  

focusing on those start-ups that are late in the research cycle and early in the product cycle. OneBio is the 

only biotech seed investor in Africa.

The Company has also invested in funds managed by two of the most successful VC fund managers in  

the country, namely KNF Ventures - managed by Knife Capital (Knife) and 4Di Capital Fund III (4Di). Both 

fund managers are well established and active participants in the VC ecosystem in SA, playing a leading  

role in policy discussions as to how to improve the environment for VC in the country, and actively  

mentoring new fund managers.
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Impact Report (Continued)

    Commercialise and showcase South African intellectual property

Highlights

• Established the UTF, the first VC fund in Africa focusing on the commercialisation of Intellectual 
 Property being developed at universities, with a commitment of R150 million for investment,   
 including seed and pre-seed investment
• Technology and Intellectual property ‘expanded’ to the rest of Africa, Europe and the USA 
 companies such as Snapplify, TagMarshall, Dataprophet
• Technology developed for edtech, manufacturing, healthwear, medical refrigeration, insurance,
      among others (LifeQ, Tagmarshall, Dataprophet)

The UTF is the first fund of its kind in Africa and is based on best practice from Oxford and Cambridge 

universities. The UTF bridges the gap between traditional VC and university grant funding for  

early-stage research and development, thereby helping to ensure the successful commercialisation 

of South African IP and driving the development and retention of entrepreneurial skills and experience.  

The UTF was responsible for establishing the Lions Den pitching event at the University of Stellenbosch  

Business School. 

Many of the SA SME Fund’s investee funds invest in SA innovations and IP and are then instrumental in 

helping to scale the portfolio companies locally and internationally. Some examples of these companies  

in the portfolio include:

Snapplify: is at the forefront of edtech solutions in Africa and is Africa’s leading marketplace for digital 

educational tools, products and services, working with thousands of schools, colleges and universities to 

digitally transform their classrooms and campuses, offering just short of 300,000 e-book titles from over 

200 content providers to more than 350, 000 students. Snapplify launched Free Access as a response to 

school closures resulting from COVID-19. This was one of the single largest education interventions in 

response to COVID-19 in Africa, with 700 schools registering for Snapplify Education tools on day 1.

DataProphet: provides a deep-learning AI solution to enable manufacturing plants to step towards  

autonomous manufacturing, supporting clients across various manufacturing verticals and geographies. 

It has been recognised by the World Economic Forum as helping customers around the world experience 

a significant and practical impact on the factory floor, reducing the cost of non-quality by an average of 40%. 

LifeQ: Product suite combines unique hardware and firmware designs with specialized cloud data  

models to provide individuals and businesses with new personal health insights from data produced by the  

forthcoming generation of consumer wearable devices, and have partnered with, amongst others,  

Samsung, Xiaomi, TAG Heur, MMI Holdings. Investors now include a swathe of international VC funds.

2
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Madapu Nhlapu Xolisile Ntanzi

Heritage Capital

Ngoku-Sakhile Mazwi Philile Maphumulo

Impact Report (Continued)

   Create and incubate new mainly Black fund managers

Highlights

• Flagship Fund Manager Development Programme (FMDP) sponsored, developed and managed 
      together with SAVCA and FNB
       -  11 Fund managers completed the programme
        -  Total of R1.5 billion raised by fund managers who completed the programme
        -  A second programme, focused on VC fund managers, has been launched and will start  
      in Q1 2022
• Anchor investor in three new Black first-time fund managers, E4E, DAV and SummerPlace,  
 with the latter two being primarily women owned
• Experienced fund managers in our portfolio mentor and provide advice to these new fund 
 managers, including PAPE Fund Managers, Knife Capital and 4Di. 

The FMDP has been successful in assisting the selected cohort of emerging managers raise new funds  
and build their technical and investment skills. Building on this success, a second programme will  
begin in 2022, which will focus on VC fund managers.

3

SAVCA FMDP Fund Managers

BALANCING GROWTH

Barbara GranthamModula Mofolo Makole Mupita Meta Mhlarhi
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Impact Report (Continued)
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Morné Edas

Sidu Mtshali

Ratirelo Mthobi

Pamela Papapetrou

Laura Deering

Priyan Padayichie

Mark van Wyk

Ewa Harcourt-Wood

Thurstan Moodley

SAVCA FMDP Fund Managers

Moushmi Patel Sihle Gumede Ofentse PelleSamantha Pokroy

Dinao Lerutla Buyisiwe Makhunga Mametja Moshe
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  Leverage additional capital for investing in SMEs

Highlights

• Over R700 million in third party funding raised by the SA SME Fund portfolio fund managers 
      post our investments
• Capital raised from institutional and pension fund investors as well as IDC, DSI and SEFA
• Provided R275 million in funding to 4 debt funds to on-lend to SMEs

SummerPlace succeeded in doubling its fund size with a R125 million commitment from RMA. PAPE Fund 
III raised nearly half a billion rand between first and second close. An additional R30 million in commitments 
was received by the UTF and a R44 million commitment from the IDC was received by Savant. The DSI 
provided R25 million for investment in specified portfolio companies within our portfolio funds. 

Successes include Cloudline, which has 4Di as the local anchor investor, closing a c.R7,5 million round with 
multiple international investors. 

Our debt funds

The Company recognises that one of the quickest and most significant ways to make a difference to SMEs 
is to provide them with access to debt funding: short and medium term loans and asset backed financing.  
Working through a network of credible non-bank financial institutions with wide reach into a large group  
of SMEs, the Company has provided four of these non-bank financial institutions with facilities to fund  
SMEs. Financing is provided for the following purposes: working capital, short term loans, specialised  
asset finance, project financing and expansion.

Spartan SME Finance (Spartan): a Non-Bank Financial Institution that backs entrepreneurs by providing 
debt funding facilities to established and growing South African SMEs. Spartan has advanced in excess 
of R250 million to 27 SMEs, preserving over 2,500 jobs. 82% of this funding has been advanced to Black 
owned SMEs and 23% to SMEs that are more than 50% women owned.

Masisizane Franchise Fund I (Masisizane): provides primarily debt funding to experienced franchisees  
to operate fuel retail stations. Masisizane has committed over R35.5 million to 4 petrol station  
franchisees, all of which are Black owned, with three of them being majority Black women owned.  
Over 150 jobs have been supported through this funding. 

A2Pay Financial Services (A2Pay): provides short term loans to spaza shop owners. This access to capital 
typically delivers growth upwards of 30% on previous turnovers. A2Pay has provided a total of R15.6  
million in loans to 356 entrepreneurs. All of these entrpreneurs are Black and 138 are Black women owned 
businesses. 

ProfitShare Partners (PSP): an innovative capital solutions company that aims to disrupt traditional  
transactional funding models to empower SMEs for growth by partnering with them on specific  
projects to ensure the success of the contract. PSP has completed R133m of transactions with 65  
clients. 97% of these clients are majority Black owned businesses and 32% are majority women owned.  
The estimated increase in employment reported by the funded SMEs is 69%.

Impact Report (Continued)
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  Help scale innovative SMEs

Highlights

• Grindstone Accelerator – 19 companies participated in the 2020 cohort, collectively raising   
 R42m in new investment 
• Endeavor Local Scale-Up helps scale high growth tech-enabled SMEs
• CEO Circle provides personal pathways to Black SMEs to assist them in their growth path to 
     becoming large businesses 

Grindstone Accelerator

The Grindstone accelerator is part of the Knife Capital value-chain, pictured below: 

Knife Capital set up Grindstone to help early-stage businesses scale, build networks, and raise  
funding. The path to growth for some of these companies is a sale to a bigger, international player that 
can help them scale globally. Some high-profile Grindstone exits include radar technology company iKubu 
to Garmin (2015), payment processor Payfast to DPO (2019) and WizzPass to FM:Systems, an American 
based facilities management and workplace solutions organisation (2021).

Impact Report (Continued)

5



 20The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report

Given Grindstone’s impressive track record, we have partnered with the Grindstone Accelerator for  

4 years. The average revenue of companies entering the programme is R4.2 million  with 7 employees, 

58% are black founded and 42% female founded. 

The 2020 cohort saw an average increase in revenue of 48% (R56m); 44 new jobs created; and a projected 

CAGR of 53% over the next 3 years. 

Top performing companies from the 2020 cohort include: LocumBase.com, an independent online 

booking platform that connects freelance medical professionals and practices; Luxity.co.za: SA’s  

largest pre-owned, authenticated luxury re-seller; and TradeBRICS.com, an online sourcing marketplace 

that connects B2B buyers directly with local and international suppliers to facilitate faster sourcing and  

compliance. Total capital raised by the 2020 Grindstone cohort is R42.7 million with total revenue growth 

of R56 million (48%) and 44 new jobs created.

Impact Report (Continued)

  Cape Town

  Johannesburg
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Notable Success: WizzPass (Grindstone 5) Exits to FM:Systems

In 2019 WizzPass joined Grindstone and was one of the top-performing businesses in its cohort.  

Grindstone 5 was the first Johannesburg cohort that the SA SME Fund backed.  

WizzPass provides a variety of visitor management, parcel management, Covid-19 screening and  

workspace reservation solutions for corporate offices, industrial & manufacturing facilities, and  

multi-tenant office buildings and office parks.

WizzPass increased their client base exponentially over 2020, and potential partners and acquirers 

started showing inbound interest. In early 2021 they decided to take their business to market and Knife 

Capital led the process alongside the founders and the broader Grindstone and Thinkroom teams.  

The transaction was concluded in June 2021.

Local Scale Up with Endeavor

High Impact entrepreneurs have the ability to deliver economic growth and job creation rapidly. In setting 

out to help scale high growth SME’s, The SA SME Fund has partnered with Endeavor to sponsor the Local 

Scale Up (LSU) programme. The LSU is led by Endeavor, and was launched at the start of 2021 to provide 

tailored business support to a cohort of 15-20 highly scalable tech-enabled businesses. The focus is on 

expediting their local and international growth.

 

Endeavor operates in 40 markets and has more than 2000 entrepreneurs and over 5000 mentors 

as part of its global network. Being selected to be part of the LSU programme provides significant  

opportunities for business growth with on-demand tailored mentoring, introductions to potential  

capital and commercial partners, and other support. After participating and scaling through the LSU  

programme, these entrepreneurs have the opportunity to be part of Endeavor’s rigorous selection  

panel to become global Endeavor entrepreneurs, which helps catapult them onto the international stage.

Since January 2021, the 18 LSU businesses collectively grew revenues by R460m (514% p.a. using a  

simple average), earning over R1.5bn of revenue in the period. They achieved 38% average annual  

increase in headcount, creating +400 jobs and are currently employing 1516 people with over 60% of these 

being Black staff. Given their strong growth and the market opportunity, there has been a 7-fold increase  

in capital raised in 2021: R1bn (13 businesses) compared to 2020: R145m (10 businesses) with rounds 

led by local and foreign investors. 

The cohort includes a range of innovative tech-enabled businesses across multiple verticals from  
insurtech: Voyc (AI voice), Carscan (AI images) and fintech: MamaMoney (remittance) and Finclusion 
(debt for lower income and micro businesses); to platform plays including Aura (private security  
platform), Kandua (home services marketplace), and Yellow (FMCG marketplace for rural areas).

Impact Report (Continued)
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Over the past year, a number of the teams successfully launched internationally, with Mobiz (SaaS 
sms marketing) launching in the US and Voyc expanding to the UK and Netherlands, while Finclusion, 
Aura, CarScan and JABU successfully expanded into other African markets. StructureIT (SaaS for Asset  
Managers) and Synatic (SaaS data integration) have been very successful in growing their US footprint, 
through mergers and landing new corporate customers. 

A number of the teams have received local and international awards over the period including Daily  
Maverick’s Styli Charambous receiving the Nat Nakasa Award, Voyc’s CTO Lethabo Motsoaledi Silicon 
Canals (NL) leading Tech Women, and Snode recognised as Africa’s leading Cybersecurity Start Up.  
As the SA SME Fund we’re proud to be associated with this successful programme, and are excited to  
continue our partnership with Endeavor in the coming years. 

CEO Circle 

The CEO Circle Entrepreneurs selected for 2019-2020 continued to receive demand-led, lighter  
touch tailored support and network access throughout 2021. These businesses are now effectively  
independently leveraging the multiple avenues of support, mentorship and resources made available to 
them and benefitting from the expanded network offered through this programme. 

For many of these businesses, 2020 was a year for streamlining operations and ensuring they were  
appropriately structured for the downturn – particularly for those in sectors severely affected by 
Covid (TSK, SignCraft and Kele – in construction, marketing, and mining). This positioning for growth is  
reaping dividends – many of the businesses are now seeing growth in revenues and their project pipeline. 
The opportunities provided by the network has led to the acquisition of new customers and partnerships,  
both in SA and internationally.

  Build the narrative of Business as a national asset

Highlights

• The Company's Chairman appointed as Deputy Chair of the BUSA Economic Policy SME Subcommittee  
 which is focused on developing a more integrated business approach to SMEs, and will inform the 
 business agenda at the Nedlac SME workstream 
• Engaged with social partners in the Nedlac SME workstream
• Participated in the Presidency strategy meetings on measures to support SMEs

Core to the Fund’s mission is building the narrative of business as a force for social good: building  
businesses and driving initiatives that stimulate inclusive economic growth. The activities described above 
demonstrate how the Fund is achieving its objectives. Showcasing this to a wider audience, including our 
social partners, provides tangible examples of how business can positively impact society, and catalyze new 
investment which is critical to economic prosperity.

Impact Report (Continued)
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The Fund participates actively in organized business and social partner forums to advocate on behalf of 
SMEs. Whilst all businesses require a stable and predictable regulatory environment, a consistent supply 
of affordable energy, water, network infrastructure, and other basic services, SMEs often face specific 
problems. These include access to affordable financing, overcoming onerous regulations, and navigating 
complex red tape. The various committees in which the Fund participates strive to address these issues 
via practical interventions.  

The Fund will continue to play a leadership role in the broader SME ecosystem, and embody the best 
of SA’s private sector which is resilient, consistently patriotic, with a unique desire to be a force for social 
good. This is the ethos which gave birth to the Fund, and which continues to animate its investment  
and related activities. 

Impact Report (Continued)
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Hyrax Biosciences is a South African technology company which has developed Exatype, a cloud-based 
software platform that aims to transform the cost, accuracy and scalability of genetic diagnostics. Hyrax 
has developed Exatype, a DNA analysis platform that enables the rollout of highly accurate, automated 
genetic diagnostics at scale.  DNA sequencing can be deployed across a wide range of applications from 
the early detection of cancer through to informing personalized treatment for a range of diseases.  

Hyrax’s software is used by pathology laboratories across the world ranging from HIV drug resistance 
testing and tuberculosis drug susceptibility testing through to characterization and genotyping of SARS-
CoV-2, the causative agent of COVID-19.  

Hyrax has partnerships with a number of international biotechnology companies to provide companion 
software for their diagnostic tests which are sold to research and diagnostic laboratories across the  
globe.  Exatype is a truly disease agnostic platform and is not restricted to deployment across infectious 
diseases.  Current developments at Hyrax see the expansion of the platform for application in cancer  
diagnostics ranging from tumour profiling to enable personalized treatment through to blood tests for  
the early detection of cancer.

Currently the majority of COVID variant diagnostic testing done in South Africa is done through the  
Exatype platform.

Impact Report (Continued)

Hyrax Biosciences – a UTF portfolio company.

Highlights from our portfolio companies
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Savant is invested in the Goedertrou power plant which is situated on the Goedertrou Dairy Farm. 
The SA developed plant uses cow manure as its feedstock (waste remediation) and generates just  
under 1MW of power per day and clean bedding for the dairy herd (cellulose extracted from the manure). 
The farm is expected to receive 330 000Kwh of power per year from the biogas power plant. This will 
take the farm off-grid and save 300 tons of CO2 equivalent emissions per year (Coal fired power plants  
produce 976 g of CO2/ Kwh vs. 35-178 g of CO2/ Kwh for Biomass Power plants). 

The Goedertrou power plant is a test power plant, designed to prove the commercial and technical  
viability of the innovation. The project is on  track and delivering according to milestones and expectations,  
with two additional power plants expected to be developed for other farms in early 2022. Importantly the 
power plant technology is based on South African innovations and is in line to contribute towards South 
Africa's green transition.

Impact Report (Continued)

Goedertrou – a Savant portfolio company
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The Cloudline Story

Cloudline is an exciting start-up that is building autonomous airships to take drone delivery into remote 
areas, with greater payloads and longer range than possible using conventional drones. Cloudline was 
founded by Spencer Home, who grew up in a poor Cape Town township and obtained his engineering  
degree from Harvard University. Cloudline is developing a solution for a real problem experienced by  
most developing countries – how to get critical services to remote areas at an affordable cost. The  
technology will provide the ability to provide on-demand emergency deliveries of medicine and blood  
which could save countless lives and bridge an infrastructural gap that has existed for many decades in  
the world’s poorest regions. At a time when it costs more than two million dollars to build a kilometre of  
new paved road, large payload delivery drones allow Cloudline to reach communities that do not have  
the density to make roads viable, with the added benefit of a much smaller environmental footprint.
 
Autonomous airships are the marathoners of the drone world. Whereas the industry has successfully  
deployed many “sprinting” drones, that may be deployed on-demand, quickly and conveniently, to carry 
small high value payloads; the distance over which these drones are able to operate has remained a big 
barrier to expanding their deployment over more uses cases. Cloudline’s technology targets reaching  
over 200km in range, allowing the company to perform a different role: delivering scheduled, just-in-time 
packaged cargo; effectively extending existing logistics networks to reach even the furthest communities.

Impact Report (Continued)

Cloudline – a 4Di portfolio company
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Tripplo is a logistics and transport platform that connects small transporters to big cargo owners.  
Traditionally big cargo owners have needed to rely on large transporters for logistics, Tripplo levels this 
playing field, allowing small transporters to deliver cargo with the same sophistication as established  
players.

Tripplo democratises the transport sector by providing a professional logistics platform to small transporters, 
increasing the competition in the sector as small businesses start to compete on a level playing field with 
large transporters.

Part of Tripplo’s impact story is in allowing for job creation in small businesses while opening the door to 
create more fleet providers. Jobs are decentralised while remaining professional as big cargo owners have 
the opportunity to use small transporters without experiencing the typical friction and pain points of doing 
business with the informal sector and small business.

Nkanyiso Ngwane has accessed three loans from A2Pay. The first one was used to increase stock  
holding in the original business (R30K).  The second was used for expansion to open a second business. 
This business is a combination of a grocery shop, a hair salon, and also a small pharmacy.  With the third 
loan of R100 000 he bought rental property to increase his additional revenue streams. This current  
business turns over in excess of R300 000 in total revenue and has created four new permanent positions.

Impact Report (Continued)

Tripplo – a DAV portfolio company

Nkanyiso Tuck Shop – an A2Pay funded business
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Directors' Responsibility Statement
for the year ended 28 February 2021

Directors’ responsibility to the shareholders of The SA SME Fund Limited 

The directors of The SA SME Fund Limited (The SA SME Fund or the Company) are responsible for  
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements. These financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008. In discharging this responsibility, the directors rely on management to  
prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and  
for keeping adequate accounting records in accordance with the Company’s system of internal control.  
C Winter prepared the financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2021. 

In preparing the financial statements, suitable accounting policies in accordance with International  
Financial Reporting Standards have been applied, and reasonable judgements and estimates have 
been made by management. The financial statements incorporate full and responsible disclosure in  
accordance with the Company’s philosophy on corporate governance. 

The directors are responsible for the Company’s system of internal control. To enable the directors to 
meet these responsibilities, the directors set the standards for internal control to reduce the risk of  
error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the appropriate delegation of  
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate  
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. The focus of risk management in the  
Company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across  
the Company.

Based on the information and explanations given by management, nothing has come to the attention of 
the directors to indicate that the internal controls are inadequate and that the financial records may not 
be relied on in preparing the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and maintaining accountability for the Company’s assets and liabilities. Nothing has come to the 
attention of the directors to indicate any breakdown in the functioning of internal controls, resulting in a 
material loss to the Company, during the year ended 28 February 2021 and up to the date of this report. 
Based on the effective internal controls implemented by management, the directors are satisfied that the 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the year ended 28 
February 2021, and the net income and cash flows for the year ended 28 February 2021.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have no reason to 
believe that the Company will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

It is the responsibility of the Company’s independent external auditors, Deloitte & Touche, to report on the 
fair presentation of the financial statements. These financial statements have been audited in terms of 
Section 29(1) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. Their report appears on pages 40 to 42.

The financial statements of the Company, which appear on pages 43 to 89, were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 31 August 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

A Gore (Chairperson) NG Payne (Director) The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report



 30The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report

Company Secretary’s Certificate
for the year ended 28 February 2021

Declaration by the Company Secretary in respect of Section 88 (2) (e) of the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008. 

I declare that to the best of my knowledge, the Company has lodged with the Commissioner of the  
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, all such returns and notices as required of a public 
company in terms of the Companies Act and that all returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

C Winter (Company Secretary)
31 August 2021
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee
for the year ended 28 February 2021

We are pleased to present our report for the year ended 28 February 2021. This report is made pursuant 
to the requirements of Section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act (71 of 2008, as amended) of South Africa.

Composition of the Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee (the Committee) is an independent statutory committee and consists of three 
independent non-executive directors with sufficient expertise to enable the Committee to discharge its  
statutory and appointed duties. 

Its members during the year under review comprised the Chairperson, Mr NG Payne, Dr NJ Dlamini 
and Ms DD Mokgatle. Ms Mokgatle passed away during the year and was replaced on the Audit and Risk  
Committee by Dr YG Muthien with effect from 16 February 2021. Dr NJ Dlamini resigned from the Audit 
and Risk Committee on 3 May 2021 and has been replaced on the Committee by Mr F Chothia with effect 
from 7 June 2021. The Chairperson of the Committee attends the Annual General Meeting.

The Committee meets at least twice a year and, with the approval of the Chairperson, at the request of  
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), or the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), or other members of senior  
management or the external auditors, may hold additional meetings. Comprehensive minutes of the  
meetings are kept. The CEO and CFO attend the meetings by invitation. The Committee may invite, at its 
discretion, representatives from the external auditors, other assurance providers, professional advisors and 
Board members. 

The Company’s independent external auditors have unrestricted access to the Committee and its Chairperson. 

During the year under review, three meetings were held.

Roles and responsibilities
The Committee’s roles and responsibilities include its statutory duties as per the Companies Act, as well as 
the responsibilities assigned to it by the Board and as documented in the Committee’s terms of reference, 
which is updated periodically and approved by the Board. 

The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled all its duties during the financial year under review as further 
detailed below. 

Compliance with statutory duties
In the execution of its statutory duties, during the period under review, the Committee: 

• Nominated Deloitte & Touche to the shareholders for appointment as the independent external   
 auditors for the year ended 28 February 2021.
• Satisfied itself that Deloitte & Touche is independent of the Company.
• Agreed the terms of engagement of the external auditors.
• Ensured that the appointment of the auditors complies with the Companies Act.
• Noted and approved the non-audit services provided by the external auditors.
• Noted that it had not received any complaints, either from within or outside the Company, relating  
 to the accounting practices, the content or audit of the Company’s financial statements or any  
 other related matter.

Risk management and oversight
The Committee assists the Board to ensure a coordinated approach is applied to provide assurance on  
the recognition and management of significant risks facing the Company. The Committee is responsible  
for the development and review of a risk management framework to ensure that the significant risks 
facing the Company have been identified and can be properly managed and monitored, and that the  
disclosure and reporting of risk is complete, timely and relevant. The Committee reviewed the risk  
management framework and is satisfied that the significant risks facing the Company have been  
identified and are being managed effectively.

The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report
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Report of the Audit and Risk 
Committee (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021

Review of valuations
The Committee is responsible for reviewing the Company’s valuation policy and methodology as well as 
considering the valuations of the Company’s investments in the financial statements. The Committee is  
satisfied that the valuation policy and methodology are based on the International Private Equity and  
Valuation (IPEV) guidelines, which set out recommended practice for fair valuing unquoted investments 
within the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) framework. The Committee reviewed the  
valuations of the Company’s investments in the financial statements and is satisfied that they meet the IFRS 
and IPEV requirements. The Committee recommended the valuations to the Board of Directors for approval. 
  
Review of the finance function
The Committee has considered and has satisfied itself of the appropriateness and experience of the CFO, 
Caryn Winter. The Committee has furthermore considered and satisfied itself of the appropriateness of 
the expertise and adequacy of the resources of the Company’s finance function. Discovery Limited has  
continued to assist with certain aspects of financial administration in order to maintain effective financial 
control as a result of the constraints due to the size of the Company’s finance function.

Compliance
The Committee is responsible for reviewing the system for monitoring compliance with applicable laws  
and regulations, and obtaining updates from management regarding any instances of non-compliance.  
The Committee is satisfied that there has been no material non-compliance with laws or regulations. 

External audit
The Company’s external auditors attend all the Audit and Risk Committee meetings and the Annual  
General Meeting of shareholders, and have direct access to the Chairperson of the Committee. The  
Committee agreed the nature and scope of the audit with the external auditors prior to  
commencement of the audit to ensure that it addressed the critical risk areas of the Company. The Audit  
Committee considered the external auditor’s report to the Audit Committee and the matters  
reported, and is satisfied with the resolution of these matters.

Integrated reporting and the financial statements
The Committee has reviewed the financial statements of the Company and is satisfied that they comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, and that the 
accounting policies used are appropriate.

The Committee has also reviewed a documented assessment by management of the going concern  
premise of the Company as well as the Directors’ report and additional information to be included in  
the Integrated Report of the Company. The Committee notes, in particular, the significance of the phased 
drawdown of investment commitments over a three to five year period, as described more fully in the  
Directors’ report and Note 20 to the financial statements. 

The Committee recommended the approval of the financial statements to the Board.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee:

NG Payne (Chairperson)
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Directors’ Report
for the year ended 28 February 2021

The directors submit their report on the financial statements of The SA SME Fund for the year ended  
28 February 2021.

Incorporation
The Company was incorporated on 7 June 2016 and obtained its certificate to commence business on the 
same day.

Nature of business
The SA SME Fund was established as part of the CEO Initiative in conjunction with National Treasury 
and Corporate South Africa. The Company’s objective is to invest in high-potential entrepreneurial  
enterprises in the Small Medium Enterprises (SME) Sector and to provide business and other forms of 
support to the SME sector and entrepreneurs funded by the Company.

Review of results
The year under review has been dominated by the COVID-19 pandemic and the economic outlook  
remains challenging. While certain sectors in which the Company operates through its direct and  
indirect investments were negatively affected by the national lockdowns, the Company was in a strong 
financial position at the start of the pandemic with significant cash reserves and minimal debt. 

Due to most of the portfolio funds being in the early stages of their investment programmes, the  
diversified nature of the portfolio and the early stage of most of the portfolio companies, the Company  
has not been significantly affected by the pandemic and resultant lockdowns. The Company’s debt  
investments have not seen a significant increase in non-performing loans or bad debts and 
the valuations of portfolio companies have largely not been negatively affected by the pandemic.  
While a small number of individual portfolio companies were adversely affected by the national  
lockdowns, the portfolio fund managers have worked closely with these companies to assist them to  
trade through the crisis.

Investment overview
During the year under review, the Company committed a further R125 million to two new funds, namely 
E4E Africa Fund I (E4E) and Digital Africa Ventures Fund I (DAV). In addition, the Company invested a  
further R10 million in KNF Ventures (RF) Proprietary Limited (KNF Ventures), a Section 12J Venture 
Capital Company. 

The Company also increased its loan financing portfolio, providing R75 million of loan financing to  
ProfitShare Partners Proprietary Limited (PSP) as well as making an investment of R25 million in Class 
A preference shares issued by PSP. PSP is a disruptive fintech company providing transactional financing  
to SMEs that are unable to obtain financing from financial institutions.  

As at 28 February 2021, the Company has committed R1,165 million to 13 investment intermediaries.

The Company has focused its investments into two core pillars, namely Growth and Venture Capital.
 
 Growth

As at the balance sheet date, the Company has committed R500 million to six investments falling within 
the Growth pillar of the mandate. These investments include R100 million committed to PAPE Fund 3 
(PAPE), R125 million committed to SummerPlace Equity Fund 1 (SummerPlace) and R50 million committed 
to Masisizane Franchise Fund I (Masisizane). In addition to these fund commitments, R125 million in loan
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facilities has been provided to Spartan SME Fund Proprietary Limited (Spartan) and A2Pay Financial  
Services Proprietary Limited (A2Pay) and R100 million has been invested in PSP as described above.

 Venture Capital

The Company has committed R665 million to investments in the Venture Capital pillar of the mandate as 
at 28 February 2021. 

During the year under review, an amount of R100 million was committed to E4E Africa Fund I, a generalist 
venture capital fund with a focus on Series A investments in innovation driven companies with high 
growth potential that have already attracted a round of capital and have achieved market traction.  
A further R25 million was committed to E4E, subject to the Partnership raising additional funding.  
A commitment of R25 million was made to DAV, a venture capital fund that targets Seed, pre-Series A and 
Series A investments in early stage digital tech companies. A further R10 million was committed to DAV, 
subject to the Partnership raising additional commitments. A further R10 million was invested in KNF 
Ventures in the current year. 

 Other initiatives

During the year the Company continued with its initiatives to develop the SME ecosystem and leverage 
the collective resources of its corporate shareholder base to scale a number of black founded and led  
high growth companies into significant businesses. However, the CEO Circle was impacted by the onset  
of the COVID-19 pandemic with most corporates having little appetite to approve new projects and 
take on new suppliers. The Company is building on the learnings of the CEO Circle programme and has 
launched a second scale programme with Endeavor. 

Thirty companies have graduated from the Grindstone programme, an incubation programme run by 
Knife Capital and designed to identify entrepreneurs with scaleable businesses and provide them with 
the strategic, management and technical skills needed to scale up their businesses and make them  
investment ready. The vast majority of these companies are black owned and managed. 

Together with the South African Venture Capital and Private Equity Association (SAVCA), the  
Company developed the Fund Manager Development Programme, a flagship transformation initiative to 
increase the number of black and female fund managers in Private Equity and Venture Capital in South 
Africa. Nine of the funds that were on the programme have collectively raised just over R1.6 billion, with  
a further R3.5 billion in the pipeline. 

In addition to the above, the Company worked with Business for SA (B4SA) and Business Leadership 
South Africa (BLSA) and launched the #PayIn30 campaign to encourage large corporates to pay their SME  
suppliers within 30 days. Over 60 corporates signed up to the campaign. 

Financial review
The Company recorded a profit before tax of R7,250,134 in the current financial year (2020: R17,838,333 
loss). A provision for tax of R9,646,689 (2020: R8,750,849) was recognised.
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The Company’s primary source of income during the financial year was interest earned on cash and cash 
equivalents. The Company takes a conservative approach to cash management and invests its excess 
cash in short term money market type facilities or notice deposits with the primary banking institutions. 
The Company also earned interest on its investments held at amortised cost as well as interest and  
dividends from its indirect investments in portfolio companies. A net fair value gain of R25,970,358 
(2020: R14,952,480) was recorded on the Company’s portfolio investments during the period. 

Total expenses for the year comprised primarily staff costs, fund management and advisory fees, and  
ecosystem development and incubator service fees. Fund management and advisory fees range between  
2% and 3.36% of committed capital and form part of the capital committed to each fund. In response to  
the COVID-19 pandemic, no short term incentives were paid to the management team for the 2021  
financial year. 

A further R60.5 million of share subscriptions was received during the year, relating to the subscription 
notice issued to shareholders in November 2019. A further R9 million has been received subsequent to 
year end, while an amount of R17.6 million remains outstanding. 

Discovery Limited continued to assist with financial administration due to the small size of the Company’s 
finance team and to ensure that good corporate governance structures are in place.
 
Tax
In years prior to the 2020 financial year, the revenue of the Company was considered to be passive  
income and the Company was assessed to not generate tax losses that may be utilised at a future date. No 
tax expense, nor deferred tax asset in respect of assessed losses, was recognised. As a result, the Company 
did not make any provisional tax payments. Following a review by tax experts, the Company is currently 
in the process of preparing a Voluntary Disclosure Programme (VDP) submission to the South African  
Revenue Services (SARS) covering the prior financial years. Due to the uncertainty of the outcome of the 
VDP application, no potential penalties or interest have been provided for in the financial statements. The 
Company has provided for tax payable in respect of the prior and current financial years and has made 
a second provisional tax payment in respect of the current financial year. According to the Company’s  
estimates, no tax is payable in respect of financial years prior to 2020.

Going concern
The directors have considered the financial position of the Company and are of the view that the  
Company remains a going concern. While the Company currently makes operating losses (before fair value  
adjustments) and is expected to do so for the foreseeable future, the Company has significant cash  
balances and its total assets exceed its total liabilities by R1,290 million (2020: R1,232 million).  
The directors have reviewed the outstanding commitments relative to the Company’s cash balances and 
note that the commitments will be drawn down by the investee funds over a period of three to five years. 
The fund of funds business model of the Company has also been considered by the directors in their  
assessment of going concern. This model assumes that the Company will have an investment period of 
approximately five years during which available funds will be invested in portfolio funds / companies in 
the SME sector. It is only after this investment period that the Company is expected to generate realised 
returns from its investment programme.
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Share capital and share premium
The Company was incorporated with authorised share capital of 3,000,000,000 ordinary no par  
value shares. The Company has issued 1,367,400,000 (2020: 1,306,900,000) shares of R1 each as at  
28 February 2021. 
 
Shareholding
An analysis of the register of members as at 28 February 2021 identified the following shareholdings 
equal to or exceeding 5% of the total issued shares in the Company:

Dividends
The directors did not declare a dividend nor is any proposed for the year ended 28 February 2021.  
No dividend was declared during the year ended 29 February 2020 either.

Holding company
The Company is a public company and is not owned or controlled by any significant shareholder.

Shareholder
Number of ordinary 
shares held

% of ordinary 
shares held

Unemployment Insurance Fund            300,000,000                       21.94%

Compensation Fund         100,000,000                          7.31%

Public Investment Corporation SOC Limited      100,000,000                                      7.31%

FirstRand Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited        75,000,000                                 5.48%

MIH Holdings Proprietary Limited          75,000,000               5.48%

Mobile Telephone Networks Proprietary Limited                75,000,000               5.48%

Sasol Limited             75,000,000               5.48%
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Directorate
The following were directors of the Company during the current financial year and to the date of this report:

Directors’ remuneration
The non-executive directors do not receive any remuneration or fees for their services to the Company. 

Ketan Gordhan and Caryn Winter were appointed to the Board on 13 November 2020. Remuneration 
paid to executive directors is disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements. 

Directors’ interests in contracts
No contracts involving directors’ interests were entered into in the current or prior years. 
 
Corporate governance 
The Board is ultimately responsible for The SA SME Fund’s business, strategy and key policies and for 
the approval of the financial objectives and targets. The Board currently consists of six non-executive 
directors, including one alternate non-executive director. In terms of the Company’s Memorandum of  
Incorporation, at each Annual General Meeting at least one third of the non-executive directors is  
required to retire, as are any directors appointed subsequent to the previous AGM. The retiring directors 
may be re-elected provided they are eligible. Indefinite and life directorships are not permitted.

During the period under review, the Board met three times.

Registered office 
1 Discovery Place, Sandton, 2196

Postal address
PO Box 786722, Sandton, 2146

Name of
Director

Executive / 
Non-executive Director

Date of
appointment

Date of
resignation
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Date of
AppointmentA Gore                  Non-executive Chairperson         07 June 2016        -

F Chothia                  Non-executive director                            07 June 2021        -

NJ Dlamini                 Non-executive Director          07 June 2016        -

KM Gordhan                 Chief Executive Officer         13 November 2020             - 

DD Mokgatle                 Non-executive Director         07 June 2016       Deceased 9 January 2021

YG Muthien                 Non-executive Director         01 November 2019               -

NG Payne                 Non-executive Director         27 June 2016               -

CT Winter                 Chief Financial Officer     13 November 2020          - 

LM Klein                Non-executive Director        23 October 2017               -     

                 (Alternate)

Directors’ Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021
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The Board is supported and assisted by two committees with clear mandates and oversight responsibilities 
for various aspects of the business. The responsibilities delegated to each committee are formally  
documented in the terms of reference for that committee, which have been approved by the Board.

 Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee is an independent statutory committee with responsibility for external 
audit oversight, financial controls, and risk management and reporting. The members of the Audit and 
Risk Committee during the year under review comprised Mr NG Payne (Chairperson), Dr NJ Dlamini  
and Ms DD Mokgatle. Ms Mokgatle passed away in January 2021 and was replaced on the Audit and 
Risk Committee by Dr YG Muthien with effect from 16 February 2021. Dr NJ Dlamini resigned from  
the Audit and Risk Committee on 3 May 2021 and has been replaced by Mr F Chothia with effect from  
7 June 2021. The Audit and Risk Committee report is included on pages 31 to 32 of this report.  

  Remuneration Committee

The role of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure the fair and responsible remuneration of the  
Company’s directors and senior executives, as well as to make recommendations on the appointment  
of directors and senior executives and on the Company’s remuneration policies. The members of the  
Remuneration Committee are Dr YG Muthien (Chairperson), Mr A Gore and Dr NJ Dlamini. Dr NJ Dlamini 
resigned from the Remuneration Committee with effect from 3 May 2021. The Remuneration Committee 
met twice during the year and approved the key performance indicators and remuneration and short term 
incentives (STI) for the investment team, the CFO and the CEO.

In addition to the above two Board committees, a group of industry specialists has been constituted  
to advise the Board and oversee the investment process by way of the Investment Committee. 

The Investment Committee is an independent committee. In terms of the Delegation of Authority, the 
Board has delegated authority for the approval of acquisitions and disposals of investments to the  
Investment Committee. All investments are unanimously approved by the Investment Committee. The 
members of the Investment Committee are Mr M Jordaan (Chairperson), Mr A Roux, Ms A Kekana and 
Mr N Martin. Ms Kekana has subsequently resigned from the Investment Committee with effect from  
24 May 2021. The Board has unlimited access to the Investment Committee members. The Investment  
Committee met once during the year.

Events after the reporting date

 Investments

Subsequent to year end, the Company has committed R2 million to Grindstone Ventures Fund Partnership, 
a venture capital fund that will invest in high-growth innovation-driven and/or technology companies.  
In addition to this, the Company has made a R5 million Seed loan facility available to OneBio Seed  
Investment Fund I for the purpose of making Seed Investment loans to portfolio companies.

Subsequent to 28 February 2021, a key person event occurred in E4E Africa Fund I. This resulted in the 
suspension of the Commitment Period and the Company has entered into a negotiated settlement with 
the General Partner to withdraw from the fund, with no financial loss to the Company.

Directors’ Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021



 39The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report  39The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report

Directors’ Report (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021

 COVID-19

In June 2021 the country was moved to an adjusted Level 4 lockdown in response to the third wave of 
COVID-19. This resulted in restricted provincial travel and the closing of certain sectors of the economy. 
This has not had a significant effect on the operations of the Company, nor on the underlying funds and 
their portfolios. 

 Economic unrest

In July 2021, riots and looting broke out in Kwa-Zulu Natal and to a lesser extent in Gauteng. Certain 
of the Company’s ultimate portfolio companies are in the logistics and retail sectors. While there were  
initially some supply chain and delivery challenges for these businesses, the impact was not significant  
and the operations have returned to normal. 

 Share capital

Subsequent to year end, a further R9 million has been received from shareholders subscribing for  
additional shares in terms of the notice issued to shareholders in November 2019. This has resulted  
in nine million additional shares being allotted and issued after year end. 
 
Apart from the subsequent events noted above, there have been no other significant events after the 
reporting date, being 28 February 2021, to the date of signature of the financial statements, namely  
31 August 2021, which require amendment to or disclosure in the financial statements.

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche was re-appointed in office in accordance with the Companies Act, on 22 January 2021. 
In terms of the Companies Act, the audit engagement partner will be rotated with effect from the 2022 
financial year. The new responsible audit engagement partner will be Nomfundo Marivha. 
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Independent Auditors' Report
To the Shareholders of The SA SME Fund Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

  Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The SA SME Fund Limited set out on pages 43 to 89, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 28 February 2021, the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The 
SA SME Fund Limited as at 28 February 2021, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa.

  Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).  Our  
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit  
of the Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the  
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA 
Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in  
South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and  
in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA  
Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for  
Accountants' (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA code). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient  
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

  Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the  
information included in the document titled "The SA SME Fund Limited Financial Statements for the year  
ended 28 February 2021" which includes the General information, the Directors' responsibility statement, 
the Company Secretary's certificate, the Report of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Directors'  
Report as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the financial  
statements and our auditor's report thereon.

National Executive: *LL Bam Chief Executive Officer *TMM Jordan Deputy Chief Executive Officer; Clients & Industries *MJ Jarvis  
Chief Operating Officer *AF Mackie Audit & Assurance *N Sing Risk Advisory DP Ndlovu Tax & Legal *MR Verster Consulting  
*JK Mazzocco People & Purpose MG Dicks Risk Independence & Legal *KL Hodson Financial Advisory *A Muraya Responsible  
Business & Public Policy *R Redfearn Chair of the Board. 
 A full list of partners and directors is available on request.  
*Partner and Registered Auditor. 
B-BBEE rating: Level 1 contribution in terms of the DTI Generic Scorecard as per the amended Codes of Good Practice. 
Associate of Deloitte Africa, a Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditors
Accounting & Auditing
Deloitte
5 Magwa Crescent
Waterfall City
Waterfall
2090

Tel: +27 (0)11 806 5200
www.deloitte.com

Private Bag X6
Galio Manor 2052

South Africa
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other  
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial  
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

  Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in  
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease  
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

  Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that  
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of  
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud  
    or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
    is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
    misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
    collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
    that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
    effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
    estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and
    based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
    conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 
    If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
    report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
    modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
    auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as 
    a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
    disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
    manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

  Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015,  
we report that Deloitte & Touche has been the auditor of The SA SME Fund Limited for five years.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditor
Per: Claudette van der Merwe
Partner
01 October 2021



Statement of Financial Position
at 28 February 2021

R               Notes    2021     2020

Assets 
  
Non-current assets   
Intangible assets         2             -     1,608
Property, plant and equipment            3             693,847              765,936
Unlisted investments at fair value       4    317,145,816     165,075,083
Unlisted investments at amortised cost           4     165,821,409     106,068,693

Total non-current assets       483,661,072    271,911,320

Current assets   
Unlisted investments at amortised cost           4          4,009,409           8,941,139
Trade and other receivables        5             173,592                    176,892
Prepayments          6         7,733,057          7,907,396
Cash and cash equivalents        7    836,845,971      969,411,920

Total current assets        848,762,029    986,437,347

Total assets                    1,332,423,101               1,258,348,667

Equity

Capital and reserves   
Share capital           8        1,367,400,000               1,306,900,000
Accumulated loss        (77,143,915)     (74,747,360)

Total equity                    1,290,256,085               1,232,152,640

Liabilities
   
Non-current liabilities   
Deferred tax liability         9         7,494,865          2,911,011
Other liabilities       10       16,908,087             -
Deferred income (government grant)       10         8,196,753             -

Total non-current liabilities            32,599,705          2,911,011

Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables      11         2,627,414          5,634,223
Right-of-use lease liability      12             537,412               514,128
Provisions        13         1,032,009       11,296,827
Provision for current tax         9         5,370,476          5,839,838

Total current liabilities              9,567,311       23,285,016

Total liabilities           42,167,016       26,196,027

Total equity and liabilities                 1,332,423,101                1,258,348,667
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 28 February 2021

R                 Notes    2021    2020

Revenue

   

Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents           39,700,209        32,433,722

Interest earned on investments held at amortised cost         8,660,461        7,844,448

Gains on investments held at fair value       25,970,358     14,952,480

Other investment income            3,174,479        2,739,342

Government grant income               320,077            -

Other income         1,650           418,750

Total revenue           77,827,234     58,388,742

Expenses

   

Ecosystem development and incubator costs     (13,133,111)   (19,381,787)

Impairment losses on investments held at amortised cost                  (179,067)     (1,334,616)

Interest expense on lease liability              (31,887)           (86,401)

Interest expense on long term liability            (269,014)            -

Fund management fees    22.1   (29,592,166)   (17,480,666)

Loss on sale of fixed assets                  (9,876)            -

Operating expenses        14   (27,361,979)   (37,943,605)

Total expenses       (70,577,100)   (76,227,075)

Operating profit / (loss)           7,250,134   (17,838,333)

Tax            9     (9,646,689)     (8,750,849)

Net loss for the year          (2,396,555)   (26,589,182)

Total comprehensive loss for the year       (2,396,555)   (26,589,182)
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 28 February 2021

R          Share Capital          Accumulated Loss            Total

Balance at 1 March 2019          537,600,000            (48,158,178)       489,441,822

 

Share capital issue            769,300,000       -       769,300,000

Total comprehensive loss for the year        -             (26,589,182)       (26,589,182)

Balance at 29 February 2020       1,306,900,000            (74,747,360)   1,232,152,640

    

Balance at 1 March 2020       1,306,900,000            (74,747,360)   1,232,152,640

Share capital issue                60,500,000        -           60,500,000

Total comprehensive loss for the year      -               (2,396,555)           (2,396,555)

Balance at 28 February 2021          1,367,400,000            (77,143,915)   1,290,256,085
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R                 Notes                     2021      2020

Cash flow from operating activities 

  

Cash utilised in operations                16         (81,296,738)    (70,313,118)

Interest received from cash and cash equivalents                            39,700,209      32,433,722

Interest paid on lease liability                          12    (31,887)             (86,401)

Tax paid                                 (5,532,197)             -

Net cash outflow from operating activities             (47,160,613)    (37,965,797)

   

Cash flow from investing activities 

  

Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment   (910,392)      (1,270,976)

Payments to acquire unlisted investments at fair value         (135,281,765)    (96,061,685)

Payments to acquire unlisted investments at amortised cost           (50,000,000) (108,500,000)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment                      -   2,473

Proceeds from realisation of unlisted investments at fair value                9,033,949             -

Interest received from unlisted investments                  4,282,082         1,760,116

Dividends received from unlisted investments                  2,700,246             831,786

Net cash outflow from investing activities          (170,175,880) (203,238,286) 

 

Cash flow from financing activities

   

Proceeds from the issue of shares                  8            60,500,000    769,300,000

Proceeds from long term liability issued                 25,155,903             -

Capital portion of cash repayments of lease liability             12 (885,359)          (780,178)

Net cash inflow from financing activities                84,770,544   768,519,822

   

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents         (132,565,949)   527,315,739

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year            969,411,920   442,096,181

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year            836,845,971   969,411,920

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 28 February 2021
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Accounting Policies
for the year ended 28 February 2021

The SA SME Fund is an investment company. The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation  
of these financial statements are set out below.

 1.    Basis of presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting  
Standards (IFRS), as well as the South African Companies Act 71 of 2008 as amended. They have been  
prepared in accordance with the going concern principle using the historical cost basis except where 
otherwise stated in the accounting policies below. 

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are consistent with those 
used in the prior financial year, except where new accounting standards have been adopted.

 2.    Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management from time to time to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts presented in the 
financial statements and related disclosures. These estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates that may be material to the financial statements.  
The key judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty are:

2.1   Assessment of investment entity status

In prior years the Company was assessed to be an investment entity. Entities that meet the  
definition of an investment entity per IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS 10) are  
required to account for investments in controlled entities at fair value through profit or loss.  
Subsidiaries that provide investment-related services or engage in permitted investment-related activities 
with investees are consolidated unless they are also investment entities. The criteria that define an  
investment entity are as follows:

• An entity that obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those  
 investors with investment management services;
• An entity that commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for  
 returns from capital appreciation, investment income or both; and
• An entity that measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on 
 a fair value basis. 

The Company has now completed its investment programme. The diversification of the portfolio to  
include lower risk debt investments that are classified as held at amortised cost in terms of IFRS 9:  
Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) has resulted in a revision of the investment entity status of the Company.  
The Company is no longer assessed to be an investment entity as not substantially all of the investments  
of the Company are measured and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis. Refer to paragraph 2.3 
for the impact of this revision.

Summary of significant accounting policies
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2.2    Accounting treatment of investments 

The directors of the Company have assessed the nature of each investment to determine whether the  
Company has control, joint control or significant influence over the investee. In assessing the nature of the 
investments, the directors have considered the key terms of the investment agreements to assess whether: 

• the Company has power over the relevant activities of the investee, earns returns from its  
 investment and has the power to influence the returns;
• there is a contractual arrangement whereby the Company has joint control over the operations  
 of the investee; or
• the Company has significant influence over the investee by virtue of having the power to  
 participate in financial and operating policy making decisions of the investee.

Where the directors have assessed that the Company has significant influence, the Company is  
applying the IAS 28: Investments in Associates (IAS 28) venture capital exemption. In terms of  
AS 28, an entity that is a venture capital organisation may elect to measure investments held in  
associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss. The directors have assessed the  
Company as having the characteristics of a venture capital organisation in light of the following criteria: 

• Investments are held for the short to medium term rather than for the long term;
• The most appropriate point for exit is actively monitored; and
• Investments form part of a portfolio, which is monitored and managed without distinguishing 
 between investments that qualify as associates or joint ventures and those that do not. 

Where none of the above scenarios are applicable, the investments are accounted for in terms of IFRS 9.  
Financial assets that are accounted for in terms of IFRS 9 are classified as either financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss or financial assets at amortised cost. The directors assess the accounting  
treatment of the financial assets accounted for under IFRS 9 based on both the Company’s business  
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flows of the financial assets.
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The directors have assessed the accounting treatment of the investments to be as follows:

Investment             Control Assessment             Measurement basis

4Di Capital Fund III     No control      Fair value through profit or loss

A2Pay Financial Services Proprietary Limited  No control         Amortised cost

Custos Media Technologies (RF) Proprietary  

Limited/CMT Research Proprietary Limited  No control         Amortised cost

Digital Africa Ventures Fund I     No control      Fair value through profit or loss

E4E Africa Fund I     No control      Fair value through profit or loss

KNF Ventures (RF) Proprietary Limited   No control      Fair value through profit or loss

Masisizane Franchise Fund I               Significant influence       Fair value through profit or loss

OneBio Seed Investment Fund I    No control      Fair value through profit or loss

PAPE Fund 3      No control      Fair value through profit or loss

ProfitShare Partners Proprietary Limited - loan  No control         Amortised cost

ProfitShare Partners Proprietary  

Limited – preference shares    No control      Fair value through profit or loss

Savant Venture Fund I (A)    No control *      Fair value through profit or loss

Spartan SME Fund Proprietary Limited   No control          Amortised cost

SummerPlace Equity Fund I    No control **      Fair value through profit or loss

The SA SME Fund Management Company  

Proprietary Limited                                           Control             Consolidated

University Technology Fund     No control      Fair value through profit or loss

 * In the prior year, it was assessed that the Company had significant influence over Savant Venture Fund I (A)
    and the investment was also measured at fair value through profit or loss by virtue of applying the IAS 28  
    venture capital exemption.
**In the prior year, the Company was assessed to control SummerPlace Equity Fund I. The IFRS 10 investment
    entity exemption was applied and the investment was measured at fair value through profit or loss.

    There have been no other changes to the accounting treatment of investments in the current year. 

Accounting Policies (Continued)
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2.3    Consolidated financial statements 

The Company is no longer assessed to be an investment entity and is therefore required to prepare  
consolidated financial statements that incorporate the results of entities over which it has control.  
The Company is a significant shareholder in The SA SME Fund Management Company Proprietary  
Limited (the Manco) and is considered to control this entity. The Manco currently holds cash received as 
a capital injection, earns interest on the cash and incurs bank charges. The net asset value of the Manco 
as at 28 February 2021 is R9,601. Due to the immaterial nature of the net asset value of the Manco as  
at 28 February 2021, the financial statements presented are considered to be consolidated financial  
statements for The SA SME Fund Limited and its subsidiaries. 

2.4    Fair value measurement of investments

All investments are valued in accordance with IFRS and the IPEV guidelines. 

The Company’s investments mainly comprise drawn commitments into Funds and Section 12J Venture Capital 
Companies (VCCs), which in turn invest in portfolio companies in which the Company has an indirect interest.  
The General Partners of these Funds provide quarterly net asset value (NAV) statements based on the Fund  
Managers’ valuations which the directors of the Company use to determine the fair value of a Fund.  
The Fund Managers’ valuations are audited annually by the Funds’ auditors. The Fund Manager of each 
Fund determines the individual fair value of each portfolio company and the Fund’s NAV at the end of 
each quarter. These valuations are approved by the Funds’ Advisory Boards, Investment Committees 
or Board of Directors. The policy of the Fund Managers is to determine the fair value of the portfolio  
companies in accordance with the IPEV guidelines as noted below. 

At each reporting date after the initial acquisition date, an assessment of the fair value of the  
investment is undertaken to determine any required changes in the fair value of the investment.  
Depending on the stage of the investment and the sector in which the investment operates, a variety of  
methodologies is used by the Fund Managers, including earnings multiple models, discounted cash flow 
models and revenue multiple models. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for reviewing the valuations of the Funds and underlying 
portfolio companies, and for recommending the valuations to the Board for approval.

Although best judgement is used in determining the fair value of these investments, there are  
inherent limitations in any valuation technique involving the type of securities in which the Funds invest.  
Therefore, the fair values presented herein may not be indicative of the amount the Funds could  
realise in a current transaction.

Accounting Policies (Continued)
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2.5    Calculation of loss allowance

Certain of the Company’s investments are measured at amortised cost. These comprise debt facilities to 
intermediaries that are utilised by the intermediaries for on-lending to SMEs.

When measuring expected credit losses (ECL) on these investments, the Company uses reasonable and 
supportable forward looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of  
different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due and those that the Company would expect to receive, taking into account cash 
flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate 
of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data,  
assumptions and expectations of future conditions. 

Expected credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or  
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased  
significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in 
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of the asset has significantly increased the Company takes 
into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information as  
described in paragraph 6.1.
 
2.6 Tax

Tax comprises South African income tax, chargeable on income-related items only and deferred capital 
gains tax on unrealised gains on investments. 

Due to the nature of the operations of the Company, significant judgement is required in determining 
the accrual for income taxes. Operating expenses are analysed based on management’s assessment of 
the nature of the expenses and whether it has been incurred in the production of income or whether 
it is of a capital nature. Expenses incurred in the production of income are further apportioned based 
on the ratio of funds committed to equity and debt investments. The Company recognises liabilities for  
anticipated uncertain income tax liabilities based on best informed estimates of taxable income. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such  
differences will impact the current income tax and deferred income tax liabilities in the period in which such  
determination is made. Potential penalties and interest on differing tax outcomes are not provided for  
in the financial statements and will be recognised as an expense of the Company when and if incurred. 

Accounting Policies (Continued)
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In years prior to the 2020 financial year, the revenue of the Company was considered to be passive 
income and the Company was assessed to not generate tax losses that may be utilised at a future date. 
No tax expense, nor deferred tax asset in respect of assessed losses, was recognised. As a result, the 
Company did not make any provisional tax payments. Following a review by tax experts, the Company 
is currently in the process of preparing a Voluntary Disclosure Programme (VDP) submission to the 
South African Revenue Services (SARS) covering the prior financial years. Due to the uncertainty of the  
outcome of the VDP submission, no potential penalties or interest have been provided for in the financial 
statements. The Company has provided for tax payable in respect of the prior and current financial years 
and has made a second provisional tax payment in respect of the current financial year. According to the 
Company’s estimates, no tax is payable in respect of financial years prior to 2020.

 3.    Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in South African Rands, which is the Company’s functional  
currency and presentation currency.
 
 4.    Property, plant and equipment 

Fixtures, furniture and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is  
recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of the assets less their residual values over their useful 
lives, using the straight-line method on the following bases:

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and the useful life of the 
underlying asset. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic  
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold improvements: 33.33% per annum   

Furniture and fittings:  20.00% per annum

Office equipment:  20.00% per annum

Computer equipment:  33.33% per annum

Right-of-use assets:  Over the period of the lease



 53The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report

Accounting Policies (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021

 5.    Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
intangible assets using the straight-line method on the following bases:

 
 Computer software:  33.33% per annum

The estimated useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with  
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

Intangible assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are  
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an  
asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is  
recognised in profit or loss.

 6.    Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position 
when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are  
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than  
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted  
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair  
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, 
the Company recognises the difference as follows:

• When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or
                liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable   
 markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss.
• In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one  
 profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument,  
 deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or  
 realised through settlement. 

None of the Company’s investments are regarded as giving rise to a day one profit or loss. 



 54The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report

for the year ended 28 February 2021

6.1    Financial assets

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or  
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in  
 order to collect contractual cash flows; and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely  
 payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through  
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

• The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting  
 contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely  
 payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at  
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective  
interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss  
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before 
adjusting for any loss allowance.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial asset, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a 
financial asset.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured  
subsequently at amortised cost.  For financial  assets other than purchased or originated  
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross  
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have become credit-impaired.  
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by  
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent  
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reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the  
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective  
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the ‘Interest earned on investments held 
at amortised cost’ line item. 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair 
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents and financial guarantee 
contracts. The amount of the expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes 
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Company always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are 
estimated based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific 
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast 
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Company recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for that 
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime 
ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within  
12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial  
recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial  
recognition. In making this assessment, the Company considers both quantitative and qualitative  
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward looking  
information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward looking information considered  
includes the  future prospects of the industries in which the Company’s counterparties operate,  
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think tanks 
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and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and  
forecast economic information that relate to the Company’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition:

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are  
 expected to cause a significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations, such  
 as an actual or expected increase in interest rates or an actual or expected significant increase in  
 unemployment rates.
• an actual or expected significant change in the operating results of the borrower. Examples  
 include actual or expected declining revenues or margins, increasing operating risks, working
 capital deficiencies, decreasing asset quality, increased balance sheet leverage, liquidity,  
 management problems or changes in the scope of business or organisational structure that  
 results in a significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower.
• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic or technological  
 environment of the borrower that results in a significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet  
 its debt obligations, such as a decline in the demand for the borrower’s sales product because of  
 a shift in technology.
• significant changes in the value of collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of
 third-party guarantees or credit enhancements, which are expected to reduce the borrower’s   
 economic incentive to make scheduled contractual payments or to otherwise have an effect on   
 the probability of default occurring.
• a significant change in the quality of the guarantee provided by a shareholder if the shareholder   
 has an incentive and financial ability to prevent default by capital or cash infusion.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the  
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
      difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Write-off policy

The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when 
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still 
be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default  
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the 
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data, adjusted by forward looking 
information. For financial assets, the exposure at default is represented by the assets’ gross carrying 
amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount 
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down 
in the future by default date determined based on historical trends, the Company’s understanding of the 
specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward looking information. 

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the  
Company expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with  
a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 

Derecognition of financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially  
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. 
If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised  
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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6.2 Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate  
method or at FVTPL. 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of 
an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL. 

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

• It  has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it  in the near term; or
• On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Company  
 manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking; or
• It is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and  
 effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer 
in a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency  
 that would otherwise arise; or
• A financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which   
 is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Company’s
 documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is   
 provided internally on that basis; or
• It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the  
 entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in 
fair value recognised in profit or loss. However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, 
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit 
risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless such treatment would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s 
credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit 
or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company that are designated by the  
Company as at FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss.  

As at 28 February 2021, the Company does not have any financial liabilities that are measured at FVTPL.
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Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are (i) not contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,  
(ii) held for trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an  
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of 
a financial liability. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are  
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial  
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Company exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with  
substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial 
liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Company accounts for substantial 
modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial  
liability and the recognition of a new liability. If the modification is not substantial, the difference  
between (1) the carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the present value of  
the cash flows after modification should be recognised in profit or loss as the modification gain or loss  
within other gains and losses. 

 7.    Tax

The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible  
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s tax  
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered 
probable that there will be an outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the 
best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of 
management and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice.



 60The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report

for the year ended 28 February 2021

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to  
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary  
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the  
period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been  
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

In terms of the South African Income Tax Act, the revenue of the Company is considered to be passive 
income and the Company therefore does not generate tax losses that may be utilised at a future date.  
As a result, the Company does not raise a deferred tax asset in respect of assessed losses. 

 8.  Cash and cash equivalents
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 

• Cash on hand.
• Deposits held at call and short notice.
• Balances with banks.

Cash and cash equivalents have a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition. 
Cash and cash equivalents are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequently cash and cash equivalents 
are carried at cost, which due to their short term nature approximates fair value.

Due to the highly liquid nature of the cash and cash equivalents, the credit quality of the counterparties 
and the fact that the Company has never experienced a credit loss, the ECL on cash and cash equivalents 
is negligible.

 9.  Share capital

Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or assets.  

 10.  Employee benefits

 The Company has established a defined contribution retirement fund for its employees.

10.1 Leave pay

The Company accrues in full the employees’ rights to annual leave entitlement in respect of past  
service. This is expensed over the period the services are rendered.
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 11. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events, the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation of uncertain timing or amount, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying  
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the 
obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured as the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure  
required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. The pre-tax discount rate used to determine  
the present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money.  

Future events that may affect the amount required to settle an obligation are only taken into account in 
determining the amount of a provision where there is sufficient evidence that they will occur.

The Company recognises a provision for an onerous contract when the expected benefits to be derived 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract.

 12. Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course 
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one 
year or less from the reporting date. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
 
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Due to the short term nature of trade and other payables, this approximates 
fair value. 

 13.  Income

13.1    Interest income 

Interest income comprises amounts that the Company earns from bank deposits placed with Tier 1 
South African banks and investments held at amortised cost. The interest earned on investments held at  
amortised cost is earned from the SME sector in South Africa. Interest income is accounted for on an  
accrual basis in the accounting period in which it is earned. 

13.2    Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established 
provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of  
income can be measured reliably. Dividend income is earned on investments in a variety of sectors in 
South Africa and is included as other investment income in the statement of comprehensive income.
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13.3  Investment gains and losses

Investment gains and losses are recognised if any fair value adjustments relating to investments held at fair 
value are required and are included as gains and losses on investments held at fair value in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

 14.  Leases 

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. The Company 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements 
in which it is the lessee, except for short term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture 
and office equipment, and telephones). For these leases, the Company recognises the lease payments as 
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at  
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily  
determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate  
 at the commencement date;
• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
• The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option  
 to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease 
payments made. 

The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related  
right-of-use asset) whenever:

• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in  
 a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is 
 remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.
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• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment
 under a guaranteed residual value, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
 the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change 
 is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).
• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in
 which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
 discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of 
 the modification.

The Company did not make any such adjustments in the current year.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. 
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying 
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects 
that the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over 
the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
 
The right-of use assets are presented as part of property, plant and equipment in the statement of  
financial position.

 15. New IFRS standards and amendments to published standards  

15.1 New and amended IFRS standards that are effective for the current year

The adoption of the following new and amended standards and interpretations, which are effective 
for the 28 February 2021 reporting period, did not have any material impact on the amounts or on the  
disclosures reported in these financial statements:

• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7.
• Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions amendment to IFRS 16.
• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards.
• Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a business.
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of material.
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15.2 New and amended IFRS standards in issue but not yet effective 

The following new standards and interpretations, which are effective for reporting periods beginning on 
or after 01 January 2021, are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements in future 
periods:

• IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts.
• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
 its Associate or Joint Venture.
• Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current.
• Amendments to IFRS 3 – Reference to the Conceptual Framework.
• Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use.
• Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract.
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle – Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time
 Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16
 Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture.

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have any impact on the 
financial statements of the Company in future periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 28 February 2021

 1.  Management of financial risk

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. Financial risks include market risk,  
credit risk and liquidity risk.

 1.1  Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate  
because of changes in market prices and investment returns. Market risk that could impact on future cash 
flows and hence the value of a financial instrument arises from:

• Interest rate risk: The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
 fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
• Currency risk: The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
 fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
• Equity price risk: The impact of changes in equity prices and dividend income.

Interest rate risk

The SA SME Fund’s financial assets are interest bearing, while its financial liabilities are non-interest  
bearing, except for the right-of-use lease liability and the other long term liability, however, the interest 
rates are fixed and the liabilities are not re-measured for changes in market interest rates. The SA SME 
Fund is exposed to interest rate risks on funds invested in interest bearing bank deposits and investments 
measured at amortised cost. In addition, cash flow interest rate risk arises on the preference shares that 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss as the preference dividends earned are linked to the 
Prime interest rate. There is no fair value interest rate risk on the preference shares.

At 28 February 2021 the Company’s total exposure to interest rate risk was as follows:

The analysis below details the Company’s sensitivity to a 1% increase and decrease in the interest rate 
earned on its cash and cash equivalents and investments measured at amortised cost, and the effect on 
income for the period.

R                             2021               2020

Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss            27,517,049                          -
Investments measured at amortised cost           169,830,818   115,009,832
Cash and cash equivalents             836,845,971   969,411,920
             1,034,193,838            1,084,421,752



 66The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report

Notes to the Financial 
Statements (Continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2021

Currency risk

All financial assets and liabilities are denominated in South African Rand and the Company is not exposed 
to currency risk. 

Equity price risk

As at 28 February 2021, the Company holds equity shares in KNF Ventures (RF) Proprietary Limited,  
a Section 12J Venture Capital Company. In addition, the Company is indirectly exposed to equity price 
risk through the valuation of the underlying portfolio investments held through its investments in Funds.  
The analysis below details the Company’s sensitivity to a 1% increase and decrease in the fair value 
of the unlisted investments held at 28 February 2021 based on fluctuations in the price of its unlisted 
investments. 

1.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the  
Company by failing to discharge an obligation. 
 
The main concentration of credit risk to which the Company is exposed arises from the Company’s cash 
and cash equivalents, preference shares measured at fair value through profit or loss and investments 
measured at amortised cost. The Company’s cash is deposited only with major banks of high quality  
credit standing. Investments go through a stringent due diligence process, including an assessment  
of the credit risk of the counterparty, and are approved by the Investment Committee.

R       %  2021     %   2020

R       %  2021     %   2020

Rate variance:                +1%     10,341,938            +1%      10,844,218
                  -1%  (10,341,938)             -1%    (10,844,218)

Change in equity prices assumed:             +1%       2,896,288            +1%        1,650,751
                  -1%     (2,896,288)             -1%      (1,650,751)



The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was as follows:

Credit risk on the majority of the investments measured at amortised cost is mitigated by the cession of 
book debts of the investee. In addition, the Company has received guarantees totalling R20 million from 
companies that are related parties of the investee. 

1.3     Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities due to insufficient cash being available to meet commitments as and when they become 
due.

The Company currently has sufficient cash resources available to meet its obligations.

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities and certain non-financial liabilities into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

R                             2021                 2020

Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss             27,517,049            -
Investments measured at amortised cost            169,830,818   115,009,832
Trade and other receivables        173,592                    176,892
Cash and cash equivalents              836,845,971   969,411,920
             1,034,367,430           1,084,598,644

R        0–3 months     4–12 months             >1 year                  Total

2021    
Trade and other payables          2,627,414                 -                -          2,627,414
Right-of-use lease liability              234,248  312,330                -              546,578
Provisions            1,026,966        5,043                -          1,032,009
Other liabilities                -      -    25,155,903        25,155,903
Total             3,888,628                 317,373       25,155,903       29,361,904
    
2020    
Trade and other payables           5,634,223                               -               -           5,634,223
Right-of-use lease liability              225,786                 301,047               -               526,833
Provisions          10,927,347  369,480               -         11,296,827
Total           16,787,356  670,527               -         17,457,883
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1.4 Valuation risk

The Company’s exposure to valuation risk arises from movements in the values of its unquoted investments 
into Funds, whose valuations in turn are derived from the valuations of portfolio companies in which they 
invest. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value need to be classified within the appropriate level of 
hierarchy on which their fair values are based. The information below sets out the different levels as well 
as the classification of the Company’s assets and liabilities where appropriate. 

Investments trading in active markets and deriving their fair value from quoted market prices of identical 
assets are classified within Level 1. These prices provide the most reliable fair value classification and the 
Company does not need to adjust the quoted prices to measure the fair value of investments. The quoted 
market price used for investments held by the Company is the current bid price.

Investments trading in markets not considered to be active and deriving their fair value from observable 
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 are classified within Level 2. These inputs need to 
be directly or indirectly observable for the investment and can include: quoted market prices for similar 
assets in active or non-active markets; observable inputs other than quoted prices; and inputs derived or 
corroborated by observable market data. The unlisted investment in preference shares is classified within 
this level.

Level 3 classification applies to investments where observable inputs are not available for the asset to 
determine its fair value. Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value where relevant observable 
inputs are not available. The unlisted investments in Fund Limited Partnerships and relevant Section 12J 
Venture Capital Companies are classified within this level. 

R       Level 1     Level 2                 Level 3                    Total

2021    
Unlisted investments    -           27,517,049        289,628,767       317,145,816  
Balance at 28 February 2021   -           27,517,049        289,628,767       317,145,816
    
2020    
Unlisted investments    -    -        165,075,083        165,075,083
Balance at 29 February 2020   -                   -        165,075,083        165,075,083
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The following table presents the movement in Level 3 assets during the year by class of financial instrument:

1.5 Capital risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain a strong capital base to sustain the  
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, to provide sustainable returns for shareholders and  
benefits for other stakeholders. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity attributable  
to ordinary shareholders, comprising share capital less accumulated losses. The Company’s liquidity  
profile, current and forecast, is monitored on a continuous basis by management and is considered before  
investments are approved.

R 2021 2020 

Unlisted investments 

Non-current assets  
Opening balance             165,075,083  53,913,477
Acquisitions              110,281,765  96,061,685
Realisations                 (9,033,949)        -
Net gains included in the statement of comprehensive income          23,453,309 14,952,480
Accrued income                    (147,441)        147,441

Balance at the end of the period           289,628,767            165,075,083
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 2.  Intangible assets

R                    Computer Software                         Total

Cost     
Balance at 1 March 2019         17,796            17,796
Additions         -                   -
Disposals         -                         -
Balance at 29 February 2020         17,796            17,796
     
Balance at 1 March 2020         17,796            17,796
Additions         -          -
Disposals         -          -
Balance at 28 February 2021                        17,796            17,796
     
Accumulated amortisation     
Balance at 1 March 2019         10,256            10,256
Amortisation              5,932               5,932
Disposals         -          -
Balance at 29 February 2020         16,188            16,188
     
Balance at 1 March 2020         16,188            16,188
Amortisation              1,608               1,608
Disposals         -          -   
Balance at 28 February 2021         17,796            17,796
     
Carrying amounts     
At 28 February 2021        -          -
At 29 February 2020             1,608               1,608
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 3.  Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold  
improvements

Furniture  
& fittings

Office 
equipment

Computer 
equipment

Right-of-
use assets TotalR

Cost     
Balance at 1 March 2019 207,130         317,070           47,390          144,785        -       716,375
Additions                  -                    -      40,369             -       1,230,607   1,270,976
Disposals                  -              -       (3,450)                -                   -            (3,450)
Balance at 29 February 2020 207,130         317,070      84,309          144,785     1,230,607    1,983,901
      
Balance at 1 March 2020 207,130        317,070       84,309           144,785     1,230,607   1,983,901
Additions                  -                1,749    -             -        908,643       910,392
Disposals                                  -           -    (16,015)             -                        -        (16,015)
Balance at 28 February 2021 207,130         318,819      68,294           144,785     2,139,250   2,878,278
      
Accumulated depreciation      
Balance at 1 March 2019    97,811            82,652         9,996             59,761        -       250,220
Depreciation      69,043           63,416      16,165             42,873        777,225       968,722
Disposals                   -          -           (977)             -                        -              (977)
Balance at 29 February 2020 166,854        146,068      25,184          102,634        777,225   1,217,965
      
Balance at 1 March 2020 166,854         146,068      25,184          102,634         777,225    1,217,965
Depreciation      40,276            63,414      16,862             20,070         831,983        972,605
Disposals                   -          -       (6,139)             -                        -           (6,139)
Balance at 28 February 2021 207,130         209,482      35,907          122,704     1,609,208   2,184,431
      
Carrying amounts      
At 28 February 2021                  -          109,337      32,387 22,081         530,042       693,847
At 29 February 2020     40,276         171,002      59,125 42,151        453,382       765,936
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 4.  Investments

2021 R

R 2021% of fund / company

2020 

2020

Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss   
Carrying amounts of:   
Unlisted investments               317,145,816       165,075,083
                 317,145,816       165,075,083
Consisting of:   
Cost                 285,607,786       150,326,021
Realisations                   (9,774,373)              (740,424)
Unrealised capital revaluation movement at the end of the year             39,548,511          15,342,045
Accrued income                      1,763,892                147,441
                 317,145,816       165,075,083

PAPE Fund 3              9.69%             61,541,110          42,658,043
KNF Ventures (RF) Proprietary Limited        16.06%             51,643,051         37,500,000
Savant Venture Fund I (A)         97.86%             27,724,491         16,831,940
OneBio Seed Investment Fund I         89.02%               4,229,468               -
4Di Capital Fund III          96.15%            35,500,370         14,284,754
Masisizane Franchise Fund I         70.37%            51,747,620         47,500,000
SummerPlace Equity Fund I         49.90%               2,882,523            6,294,740
Digital Africa Ventures          93.45%             24,045,071                -
E4E Africa Fund I          89.07%             15,966,115               -
University Technology Fund         76.33%             14,331,962               -
ProfitShare Partners preference shares                 N/a             27,517,049               -
The SA SME Fund Management  
Company Proprietary Limited         31.90%       16,986      5,606
                 317,145,816       165,075,083

4.1 Unlisted investments at fair value

The Company obtains exposure to and has indirect investments in a diversified pool of unquoted  
investments (portfolio companies) by investing in Fund Limited Partnerships (Funds) that typically have a  
10-year life cycle. The Company becomes a Limited Partner of the Fund and the investments are made through 
commitments into the Funds. Additionally, the Company has invested in KNF Ventures (RF) Proprietary 
Limited, a Section 12J Venture Capital Company and convertible preference shares in ProfitShare Partners 
Proprietary Limited. As at 28 February 2021, the Company had the following investments:

The investments consisted of the following:
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The fair value of the unlisted investments measured at fair value through profit or loss was determined 
with reference to the net asset value of the Funds, which measure their assets and liabilities at fair value. 
The fair value of the preference shares has been calculated by discounting future cash flows at current 
market interest rates.

The principal place of business of the above investments is South Africa. 

PAPE Fund 3 and SummerPlace Equity Fund I  are both en commandite partnerships where the  
investments are of a long term nature and the funds are equity participants that ultimately derive  
dividends and capital appreciation from their investments. 

KNF Ventures is a Section 12J Venture Capital Company focused on innovation-driven ventures with 
proven traction.

The remaining funds are venture capital funds established with the intention of making long term investments 
in early stage companies with the ultimate purpose of deriving investment income and achieving long 
term capital appreciation. The investment in Savant Venture Fund I includes the commitment to the fund 
as well as an incubation facility to enable the fund to invest in early-stage potential pipeline companies.  
All the funds are en-commandite partnerships.

Masisizane Franchise Fund is a general partnership, the purpose of which are to invest in portfolio  
companies to derive investment income and long term capital gains.

Summarised financial information in respect of Masisizane Franchise Fund I is set out below. The summarised 
financial information below represents amounts in Masisizane’s financial statements and not the  
Company’s share of these amounts. 

2021 2020R

Current assets                  56,794,867         69,798,351
Non-current assets                 16,741,224                -
Total assets                  73,536,091         69,798,351
Current liabilities        -         (2,500,000)
Net assets                  73,536,091         67,298,351
Partners’ capital accounts                67,500,000         67,500,000
Retained earnings                    6,036,091             (201,649)
Capital attributable to partners               73,536,091         67,298,351
Capital attributable to The SA SME Fund Limited             51,747,620         47,358,099
  
Revenue                  10,544,409            2,327,158
Profit / (loss) for the year                   6,237,740             (201,649)
Total comprehensive income                   6,237,740             (201,649)
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4.2 Unlisted investments at amortised cost
 
The Company has provided financing facilities to a number of investment intermediaries. This funding 
is used by the intermediaries to provide finance for working capital, project finance, asset finance and 
medium term loans to SMEs and spaza shops. These loans are held with the objective of diversifying the 
portfolio and collecting contractual cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. In addition, the Company has purchased a convertible promissory note in a 
potential portfolio company of the University Technology Fund. 

At 28 February 2021, the Company had the following investments:

For the purposes of impairment, the directors have assessed that there has not been a significant  
increase in the credit risk of the financial assets and the loss allowance has been assessed to be Stage 1. 

The investments consisted of the following:

2021

2021
Amortised cost

Spartan SME Fund Proprietary Limited

2020
Amortised cost

2021
Fair value

2020
Fair value

R

2020R

Investments measured at amortised cost    
Carrying amounts of:    
Investments measured at amortised cost           169,830,818      115,009,832
                169,830,818      115,009,832
    
Current                    4,009,409            8,941,139
Non-current               165,821,409      106,068,693
                169,830,818      115,009,832
Consisting of:    
Cost                158,500,000      108,500,000
Accrued income                 12,844,502            7,844,448
Provision for expected credit losses               (1,513,684)         (1,334,616)
                169,830,818      115,009,832

    110,519,626   110,637,728  106,068,693       106,951,797

The loan bears interest at Prime less 1% per annum, 
compounded annually and is repayable in full, together 
with accrued interest, on 24 April 2027. The loan is
secured by a cession of book debts. In addition, the 
Company has received guarantees totaling R20 million 
from other companies within the Spartan group. The loan 
will be subordinated in favour of other funders should 
additional funding be raised by Spartan SME Fund. 
The maximum additional funding to be raised by Spartan 
is R500 million. The loan is subject to covenants, the 
terms of which were amended after year end. The fair 
value has been calculated by discounting future cash
flows at current market interest rates. The investment is 
regarded as a Level 2 instrument under the fair value hierarchy. The SA SME Fund Limited  |   Integrated Report  74
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2021
Amortised cost

2020
Amortised cost

2021
Fair value

2020
Fair value

    10,519,624      10,786,547           5,239,004       5,239,004

    4,009,409         4,009,409          3,702,135       3,702,135

 44,782,159      46,667,316                             -                          -

A2Pay Financial Services Proprietary Limited

Custos Media Technologies (RF) Proprietary 
Limited/CMT Research Proprietary Limited

ProfitShare Partners Proprietary Limited

The loan bears interest at Prime less 2% per annum, 
compounded quarterly and is repayable in full, 
together with accrued interest, on 30 June 2027. 
The loan is secured by a cession of book debts and 
has been guaranteed by A2L Media Corp Proprietary 
Limited, a fellow subsidiary of A2Pay. The fair value 
has been calculated by discounting future cash flows 
at current market interest rates. The investment is 
regarded as a Level 2 instrument under the fair  
value hierarchy. 

The promissory note is unsecured, bears interest at 
8% per annum and is repayable on 30 April 2021. The 
note is convertible into ordinary shares in the issuers 
at the option of the Company, unless the 
 issuer raises capital proceeds in excess of USD1 
million, in which case the note is automatically  
convertible into share capital in the issuers. Due to 
the short term nature of the investment, the carrying 
amount is considered to equate to the fair value of 
the investment. The investment is regarded as a Level 
2 instrument under the fair value hierarchy. Subse-
quent to year end, the maturity of the note has been 
extended to 31 October 2021.

The loan is secured by a cession of book debts and 
bears interest at Prime plus 3%, compounded monthly 
and payable quarterly in arrears. The capital balance of 
the loan is repayable in full on 8 October 2025. The fair 
value has been calculated by discounting future cash 
flows at current market interest rates. The investment 
is regarded as a Level 2 instrument under the fair 
value hierarchy.

   169,830,818      172,101,000        115,009,832      115,892,936

R
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2020
Fair value

 6.  Prepayments

The fair value approximates the carrying value of the trade and other receivables, due to the short 
term nature thereof. All trade and other receivables are current. Due to the short term nature of the 
trade and other receivables, the credit quality of the counterparties and the fact that the Company  
has never experienced a credit loss, the ECL on trade and other receivables is negligible.

2021 R

R 2021

2020 

2020

Financial assets:  
Deposits            173,592           173,592
Other receivables           -                3,300
             173,592          176,892

Prepaid management fees      7,362,706       7,757,835
Other prepayments           370,351           149,561
         7,733,057       7,907,396

 5.  Trade and other receivables
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 7.  Cash and cash equivalents

 8.  Share capital

2021 (R)
Average  

interest rate
Average  

interest rate 2020 (R)

Bank and cash balances                                836,845,971          969,411,920
    
Cash at bank and short term deposits 
First National Bank                      4.32%                 39,732,782      6.38%       177,568,565
Investec                       4.43%              102,361,148      7.18%          25,603,497
Nedbank                 4.91%              342,105,023      7.83%       427,373,196
Rand Merchant Bank 32 day notice index deposit    4.06%               352,640,228      7.07%        338,860,097
Rand Merchant Bank call deposit          3.38%              6,790      6.08%        6,565
                     836,845,971           969,411,920

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately equal to their fair value due to their 
short term nature and because they bear interest at market-linked rates. Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the reporting period as shown in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items 
in the consolidated reporting position as shown above.

2021 Number  
of shares2021 (R) 2020 (R) 

2020 Number
of shares

Authorised  
Ordinary no par value shares      3,000,000,000             3,000,000,000
Issued  
Ordinary no par value shares 1,367,400,000     1,367,400,000          1,306,900,000            1,306,900,000
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Number  
of shares

Reconciliation of shares issued R

Balance at 1 March 2019                537,600,000  537,600,000
Issue of shares                  769,300,000  769,300,000
Balance at 29 February 2020            1,306,900,000              1,306,900,000
  
Issue of shares                     60,500,000     60,500,000
Balance at 28 February 2021            1,367,400,000              1,367,400,000

During the year ended 28 February 2021 the Company increased its share capital and issued 60,500,000 
(2020: 769,300,000) fully paid up new shares at a price of R1.00 per share. 

In terms of the South African Income Tax Act, the non-capital revenue of the Company is considered to be passive 
income and the Company therefore does not generate tax losses that may be utilised at a date in the future.  
As a result, the Company does not raise a deferred tax asset in respect of estimated or assessed losses. 

Following a review by tax experts, the Company is currently in the process of preparing a Voluntary Disclosure 
Programme (VDP) submission to the South African Revenue Services (SARS) covering the prior financial years.

 9.  Tax

2021 2020

South African normal tax      
Current tax         5,062,834      5,839,838
Deferred tax         4,583,855      2,911,011
          9,646,689      8,750,849
   
Reconciliation of tax rate           %        %

Standard rate of tax                 28.00                28.00
Non-taxable income               (17.81)   1.93
Unrealised gains on investments             (92.92)                23.47
Expenditure disallowed              195.06           (100.87)
Allowance in respect of investment in S12J VCC           (19.31)               15.70
Timing differences               (23.18)                (0.97)
Deferred capital gains tax on unrealised gains on investments            63.22             (16.32)
Effective tax rate               133.06             (49.06)

R
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During the year, the Company entered into a project funding agreement with the Department of Science 
and Innovation (DSI) whereby the DSI has provided R25 million cash for investment in specified portfolio 
companies. The funds do not bear interest and are returnable to the DSI based on the returns generated 
by the investments in the portfolio companies. The agreement terminates on 31 December 2025.

The liability was initially measured at fair value by discounting the amount payable at a market related 
rate over the term of the agreement. The difference between the amount payable and the fair value is 
recognised as deferred income from a government grant and is released to the income statement over 
the term of the agreement on a straight-line basis. Interest expense is recognised over the term of the 
agreement using the effective interest method. The liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are settled on average 30 days from date of  
statement. The fair value approximates the carrying value of the trade and other payables, due to the short 
term nature thereof.

2021

2021

2020

2020

Amount due to DSI in terms of project funding agreement 16,908,087          -

Current              -          -
Non-current       16,908,087          -
        16,908,087          -

Trade payables              527,314      2,448,360
Other payables              400,725          541,894
Total financial liabilities            928,039      2,990,254

Accruals           1,699,375     2,643,969

Total financial and non-financial liabilities      2,627,414     5,634,223

 10.  Other liabilities

11.  Trade and other payables

R

R
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The incremental cost of borrowing used to discount the value of the remaining lease payments is 6.978% 
(2020:10.245%).

2021R 2020

Movement in right-of-use lease liability  
Balance at beginning of the year           514,128           -
Transition adjustment for IFRS 16           -       1,294,306
Lease renewal              908,643           -
Finance charges                31,887              86,401
Cash outflow for leases           (917,246)         (866,579)
               537,412          514,128
  
Current portion payable within one year          537,412           514,128

Total cash outflow for leases  
Finance charges               31,887              86,401
Capital portion              885,359           780,178
               917,246           866,579 
Contractual undiscounted cash flows  
Due in one year                    546,578          526,833

 12.  Right-of-use lease liability

 13.  Provisions

2021 2020

Employee benefits         1,032,009    11,296,827
           1,032,009    11,296,827
  
Current          1,032,009    11,296,827
Non-current                  -           -
           1,032,009    11,296,827
    
Movement in provisions:    
Balance at the beginning of the year    11,296,827       6,634,192
Additional provision in the year        1,032,009    11,296,827
Utilisation of the provision                  (11,296,827)    (6,634,192)
Balance at the end of the year        1,032,009    11,296,827

R
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2021R 2020

Operating expenses comprise:  
Amortisation of intangible assets                1,608                5,932
Auditors’ remuneration  
   Audit fees          1,846,448           920,000
   Remuneration for other services           162,000           -
Consulting fees              500,000             33,500
Depreciation              972,605           968,722
Fund II costs          1,683,676                8,757
Insurance              315,711           287,492
Investment Committee fees        1,050,000           987,292
Investment-related costs            314,085       1,769,398
Legal fees              651,624       1,707,155
Operating lease rentals – office equipment (Note 17)            83,334             93,208
Salaries, wages and short term incentives, including  
directors’ emoluments disclosed in Note 15     17,853,406    29,322,323
Other operating expenses        1,927,482       1,839,826
        27,361,979    37,943,605

 14.  Operating expenses

The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and accrued bonuses in terms of  
employees’ contracts of employment. An amount of R0 (2020: R10,814,570) in respect of employee  
benefits provisions has been paid subsequent to year end.
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 15.  Directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments

2021 (R)
Short term 
incentive*

SalarySalary Total Total
2020 (R)

Short term 
incentive

Ketan Gordhan                    4,237,209    -          4,237,209          4,260,000          2,769,000      7,029,000
Caryn Winter    2,470,293    -          2,470,293          2,483,580           1,614,327       4,097,907
      6,707,502    -         6,707,502         6,743,580         4,383,327   11,126,907

* Short term incentives for the year ended 28 February 2021 were suspended and salaries of investment 
professionals and executive management were temporarily reduced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The non-executive directors do not receive any remuneration or fees for their services to the Company.
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Operating lease rentals relate to leases of low value office equipment with lease terms of three years.

2021

2021

2020R

R 2020

Operating profit / (loss) before tax       7,250,134                 (17,838,333)
Adjustments for:  
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment          972,605            968,722
Amortisation of intangible assets                 1,608                5,932
Loss on disposal of fixed assets                 9,876           -
Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents                 (39,700,209)  (32,433,722)
Non-cash government grant income         (320,077)           -
Investment income recognised in the statement  
of comprehensive income                    (11,834,940)  (10,583,790)
Non-cash interest expense on long term liability          269,012                               -
Lease liability payments              917,246            866,579
Unrealised gains from fair value adjustments                (25,970,358)  (14,952,480)
Increase in expected credit loss provisions           179,067       1,334,616
Movement in provisions                  (10,264,818)       4,662,635
Working capital changes:  
   Decrease / (increase) in prepayments and  
   trade and other receivables            177,640     (5,381,559)
   (Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables  (2,983,524)       3,038,282
                     (81,296,738)                 (70,313,118)

Operating lease rentals due within one year           67,076             57,846
Operating lease rentals due thereafter            68,249          -
             135,325            57,846

 16.  Notes to the statement of cash flows

 17.  Operating lease rentals

Cash utilised in operations:
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% of fund

% of fund2020

2021
Undrawn capital 
commitment (R)

Undrawn capital 
commitment (R)

Total capital 
commitment (R) 

Total capital 
commitment (R) 

Undrawn capital commitments:   
PAPE Fund 3                  9.69%       100,000,000   44,140,068
SummerPlace Equity Fund 1                49.9%       125,000,000 112,603,568
Savant Venture Fund 1               97.86%       100,000,000    71,485,698
4Di Capital Fund III               96.15%       125,000,000   89,372,291
OneBio Seed Investment Fund I              89.02%           75,000,000   64,984,460
University Technology Fund              76.33%       125,000,000 109,142,046
E4E Africa Fund I               89.07%       100,000,000   81,229,365
              750,000,000 572,957,496

Undrawn capital commitments: 
PAPE Fund 3                  9.64%       100,000,000   58,259,360
SummerPlace Equity Fund 1                99.6%       125,000,000               112,247,768
Savant Venture Fund 1                  99.5%       100,000,000   89,209,523
4Di Capital Fund III               96.15%       125,000,000                106,423,698
OneBio Seed Investment Fund I                    89.02%          75,000,000    72,355,972
University Technology Fund               93.46%       125,000,000                 123,199,278
              650,000,000               561,695,599

 18.  Capital commitments

In addition to the above commitments, the Company has committed to providing Savant Venture Fund 1  
with an Incubation Facility totalling R10 million. This facility will be used to provide interest free loans (2020: 
Prime less 1%), to Savant Venture Fund 1 to enable it to make incubator investments of between R250k and 
R1.5 million in potential portfolio companies. As at 28 February 2021, an amount of R9,519,688 (2020: 
R3,691,980) had been advanced to Savant Venture Fund I in terms of this facility. The Company has also 
committed a total of R25 million to the University Technology Fund for Seed and Pre-seed investments.  
As at 28 February 2021 an amount of R7,571,518 (2020: R0) has been utilised for this purpose.
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 19.  Contingencies

 21.  Subsequent events

 20.  Going concern

The Company does not have any contingent liabilities at 28 February 2021, nor at the date of this report. 
There were no contingent liabilities at 29 February 2020 either.

21.1 Issue of shares
Subsequent to year end a further R9 million has been received from shareholders subscribing for additional 
shares in terms of the notice issued to shareholders in November 2019. This has resulted in nine million 
additional shares being allotted and issued after year end.

The directors have considered the financial position of the Company and are of the view that the  
Company remains a going concern. While the Company currently makes operating losses (before fair  
value adjustments) and is expected to do so for the foreseeable future, the Company has significant  
cash balances and its total assets exceed its total liabilities by R1,288 million (2020: R1,232 million). 

The directors have reviewed the outstanding commitments relative to the Company’s cash balances and 
note that the commitments will be drawn down by the investee funds over a period of three to five years. 
The fund of funds business model of the Company has also been considered by the directors in their 
assessment of going concern. This model assumes that the Company will have an investment period of 
approximately five years during which available funds will be invested in portfolio funds / companies in the 
SME sector. It is only after this investment period that the Company is expected to generate realised returns 
from its investment programme.

Due to most of the portfolio funds being in the early stages of their investment programmes, the  
diversified nature of the portfolio and the early stage of most of the portfolio companies, the Company  
has not been significantly affected by the pandemic and resultant lockdowns. The Company’s debt  
investments have not seen a significant increase in non-performing loans or bad debts and the valuations 
of portfolio companies have largely not been negatively affected by the pandemic. While a small number  
of individual portfolio companies were adversely affected by the national lockdowns, the portfolio fund 
managers have worked closely with these companies to assist them to trade through the crisis.
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Total capital commitments

R

Commitments to investment intermediaries: 
Grindstone Ventures              2,000,000
OneBio Seed Investment Fund I – Seed loan facility          5,000,000
Total commitments subsequent to year end           7,000,000

21.2 Investments subsequent to 28 February 2021
Subsequent to year end, the Company has made the following commitments:

21.3 Key person event
Subsequent to 28 February 2021, a key person event occurred in E4E Africa Fund I. This resulted in the 
suspension of the Commitment Period and the Company has entered into a negotiated settlement with  
the General Partner to withdraw from the Fund at no financial loss to the Company. 

21.4 COVID-19
In June 2021 the country was moved to an adjusted Level 4 lockdown in response to the third wave of 
COVID-19. This resulted in restricted provincial travel and the closing of certain sectors of the economy. 
This has not had a significant effect on the operations of the Company, nor on the underlying funds and their 
portfolios.

21.5 Economic unrest
In July 2021, riots and looting broke out in Kwa-Zulu Natal and to a lesser extent in Gauteng. Certain of 
the Company’s ultimate portfolio companies are in the logistics and retail sectors. While there were  
initially some supply chain and delivery challenges for these businesses, the impact was not significant  
and the operations have returned to normal. 

Apart from the events described above, there have been no significant events subsequent to the end of  
the reporting period that would impact on the figures reported or that would require disclosure in these  
financial statements.
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 22.  Related parties

22.1 Transactions with related parties

During the period under review, the Company entered into the following transactions with portfolio funds:

In addition to the above transactions, during the year ended 28 February 2021, the Company injected  
capital of R10,000 into the SA SME Fund Management Company Proprietary Limited, a company that it  
controls. This was effected in order for the SA SME Fund Management Company Proprietary Limited to 
obtain its FSP licence under the FAIS Act.

Fund 
operating 
expenses

Management 
and advisory 

fees paid

Interest and 
dividends 

received

Establish-
ment costs

Total  
expenses

Total  
income

Management 
fee %

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    
PAPE Fund 3                            2.00%    3,226,634  3,226,634   2,392,928       2,288,346          (13,643)      118,225
Savant Venture Fund I (A)          3.36%     (147,441)   (147,441)   4,366,282     3,855,149     (1,074)      512,207
OneBio Seed Investment Fund I     3.00%           -                     -    2,766,955     2,582,425                 -        184,530
4Di Capital Fund III           3.00%          95,286        95,286    4,810,033     4,311,499     26,482       472,052
Masisizane Franchise Fund I            N/a           -                     -        312,286                        -                  -       312,286
University Technology Fund     3.00%           -                     -    4,609,431     3,973,914      (203,540)      839,057
SummerPlace Equity Fund I      2.50%           -                     -    3,619,985     3,599,875                 -          20,110
Digital Africa Ventures Fund I      3.00%           -                     -    1,454,929         954,929                 -       500,000
E4E Africa Fund I           3.00%            -     -    2,762,298     2,215,069  547,229        -
ProfitShare Partners  
Proprietary Limited              1,911,333  1,911,333             -                        -                  -        -

              5,085,812 5,085,812    27,095,127   23,781,206   355,454   2,958,467

Financial assets measured at amortised cost    
Spartan SME Fund 
Proprietary Limited         6,656,672  6,656,672             -                        -                  -         -
A2Pay Financial Services 
Proprietary Limited             399,409      399,409             -                         -                  -         -
Custos Media/CMT Research            307,275      307,275             -                         -                  -         - 
ProfitShare Partners 
Proprietary Limited                        1,297,106  1,297,106             -                         -                  -         - 
  
           8,660,462  8,660,462             -                         -                  -         -

          13,746,274     13,746,274   27,095,127   23,781,206           355,454    2,958,467

2021 (R)
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The following amounts were outstanding at 28 February 2021:

There were no amounts owing to or by related parties at 29 February 2020.

Fund 
operating 
expenses

Management 
and advisory 

fees paid

Interest and 
dividends 

received

Establish-
ment costs

Total  
expenses

Total  
income

Management 
fee %

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    
PAPE Fund 3            2.00%  2,591,743  2,591,743   2,586,336     2,344,031       (192,458)      434,763
Savant Venture Fund I (A)          3.36%      147,441      147,441   4,117,210     3,704,391     65,025       347,794
OneBio Seed Investment Fund I     3.00%           -      -       791,774         735,246                  -          56,528
4Di Capital Fund III           3.00%    158               158   4,272,833     3,743,440  530,337              (944)
Masisizane Franchise Fund I            N/a           -                      -       155,715                         -                  -       155,715
University Technology Fund     3.00%           -                      -   1,482,229         297,945     1,184,284         -
SummerPlace Equity Fund I       2.50%           -                      -   4,074,569     3,302,449                  -       772,120

          2,739,342     2,739,342  17,480,666  14,127,502     1,587,188   1,765,976

Financial assets measured at amortised cost    
Spartan SME Fund 
Proprietary Limited         7,318,336  7,318,336             -                         -                  -         -
A2Pay Financial Services 
Proprietary Limited             323,977      323,977             -                         -                  -         - 
Custos Media/CMT Research           202,135      202,135             -                         -                  -         -
 
          7,844,448  7,844,448             -                         -                  -         -

        10,583,790    10,583,790 17,480,666  14,127,502     1,587,188   1,765,976

2020 (R)

2021 (R)
Amounts owed from 

related parties 
Amounts owed to 

related parties 

Digital Africa Ventures Fund I               -              235,160
                           -           235,160 
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22.2 Transactions with directors

During the period under review, the Company made a donation of R25,000 to Palesa Ya Sechaba  
Foundation NPC, a foundation established by Ms Dolly Mokgatle, a deceased director of the Company.
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Notice of AGM

22 February 2022

Dear Shareholder

The detailed Notice of the Annual General Meeting ("Notice") and supporting documentation are  
attached hereto. The Notice is accompanied by explanatory notes setting out the reasons and the  
effects of the proposed ordinary and special resolutions in the Notice.

Should you require a full printed version of the Annual Financial Statements, please contact me on  
074 339 9035 and a copy will be sent to you.

If you are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting, you are able to vote by proxy in accordance 
with the instructions in the Notice and the form of proxy.

Yours sincerely

C Winter
Company Secretary
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The SA SME Fund Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number 2016/238385/06
("the Company")

Notice is hereby given in terms of section 62(1) of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 as amended  
("the Companies Act") that the fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company ("AGM") will be held 
on Wednesday 16 March 2022 at 13h30 which meeting will be held entirely via a remote interactive  
electronic platform as contemplated by section 63(2)(a) of the Companies Act and clause 29.1 of the  
Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company ("MOI").

  Purpose

The purpose of the AGM is to conduct the following business:

1.  Present the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 28 February 2021 
     (including the directors’ report, the independent external auditor’s report and the Audit and Risk
     Committee report) as contained in the Integrated Report which accompanies this notice and is also
     available on the Company’s website at www.sasmefund.co.za;
2.  To consider and, if deemed fit to pass, with or without modification, the resolutions set out below, and
3.  To deal with such other business as may be dealt with at an AGM.

  Record date

The record date for shareholders to be registered in the books of the Company for purposes of being  
entitled to attend, speak and vote at the AGM is 22 February 2022.

  Proof of identification required

In accordance with the Companies Act, any shareholder or proxy attending the AGM must present  
reasonable satisfactory identification. Forms of identification include a green bar-coded identification 
document or identification card issued by the South African Department of Home Affairs,  a  
driver’s licence or a valid passport. Shareholders of the Company who wish to participate in the AGM  
electronically should provide such identification when making the application to so participate.

  Electronic participation arrangements

Considering the measures put in place by the South African Government in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Board has decided that the AGM will only be accessible through a remote interactive  
electronic platform as detailed below. 

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who wish to participate in the AGM are required to complete 
the Electronic Participation Application Form which will be available from the Company Secretary and 
email the completed form to the Company Secretary (caryn@sasmefund.co.za) as soon as possible but in 
any event by no later than 13h30 on Monday 14 March 2022.

Notice of AGM
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Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who have applied to participate electronically in the AGM 
are requested by no later than 13h30 on Wednesday 16 March 2022 to join the meeting by accessing 
the meeting invitation provided by the Company, whose admission to the meeting will be controlled by 
a moderator.

The cost of electronic participation in the AGM is for the expense of the participant and will be  
billed separately by the participant’s own service provider. The participant acknowledges that the  
electronic communication services are provided by third parties and indemnifies the Company against any  
loss, injury, damage, penalty or claim arising in any way from the use or possession of the electronic  
services, whether or not the problem is caused by any act or omission on the part of the participant or anyone 
else. In particular, but not exclusively, the participant acknowledges that he/she will have no claim against 
the Company, whether for consequential damages or otherwise, arising from the use of the electronic  
services or any defect in it or from total or partial failure of the electronic services and connections linking the  
participant via the electronic services to the AGM. The Company cannot guarantee there will not be a 
break in electronic communication that is beyond the control of the Company.

  Attendance and voting by shareholders or proxies

Shareholders are entitled to attend, speak and vote at the AGM via the use of the electronic platform.

Any shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxy or proxies to attend, participate in and speak 
and vote at the AGM in their stead.  The person or persons so appointed as proxy or proxies need not be a 
shareholder or shareholders of the Company.

The electronic platform to be utilised to host the AGM does not provide for electronic voting during the 
meeting. Accordingly, shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit votes by proxy in advance of the 
AGM. Forms of proxy (which form is included with this notice of AGM) must be lodged with the Company, no 
later than 13h30 on Monday 14 March 2022, being not less than 48 (forty eight) hours before the AGM, 
to be held on Wednesday 16 March 2022 at 13h30, in accordance with clause 24.3.2 of the MOI. 

Forms of Proxy may be lodged with the Company by:

•  Delivery to the Company at First Floor, Building 1, 5 Second Road, Hyde Park, 2196; or
•  Email to caryn@sasmefund.co.za

Any forms of proxy not submitted by this time can still be lodged by email to caryn@sasmefund.co.za prior 
to the commencement of the meeting. 

Shareholders are reminded that they are still able to vote normally through proxy submission, despite 
deciding to participate either electronically or not at all in the AGM. 

On a poll, every shareholder of the Company shall have one vote for every share held in the Company  
by such shareholder. Voting on the Ordinary and Special Resolutions to be proposed at the AGM will  
be voted on by a poll.

Notice of AGM (Continued)
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  Questions

Shareholders are encouraged to submit via email any questions in advance of the AGM to the  
Company Secretary at caryn@sasmefund.co.za. These questions will be addressed at the AGM and will  
be responded to via email thereafter.

  Approvals required for resolutions

In terms of the Companies Act and the MOI, Ordinary Resolutions numbers 1 to 4 (including 1.1 and 1.2 
and 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3), contained in this Notice, require the approval by more than 50% (fifty percent) of  
the votes exercised on the resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM.

In terms of the Companies Act and the MOI, the Special Resolution, contained in this Notice, requires 
the approval by at least 75% (seventy five percent) of the votes exercised on the resolutions by  
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM.

PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following documents have been distributed as required and will be presented to the shareholders  
at the AGM:

• The audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 28 February 2021
• Directors’ Report
• Independent Auditors' Report
• Audit and Risk Committee Chairman’s Report 

A complete set of the consolidated audited Financial Statements, together with the above mentioned  
reports, are set out on pages 28 to 89 of the Integrated Report.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1.  Ordinary Resolution number 1 (comprising Ordinary Resolution numbers 1.1 and 1.2)
      Re-Election of directors

  To elect by way of separate resolutions the following non-executive directors:

  Ordinary resolution number 1.1
“Resolved that Mr A Gore is elected for appointment as a director of the Company.”

  Ordinary resolution number 1.2
“Resolved that Dr NJ Dlamini is elected for appointment as a director of the Company.”
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Explanatory note in respect of Ordinary Resolution numbers 1.1 and 1.2 

Clause 38.3.1 of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company ("MOI") provides that at least 1/3 
(one third) of the Company’s non-executive directors shall retire at each AGM.  The directors retiring 
by rotation at the AGM are Mr A Gore and Dr NJ Dlamini.  The proposed Ordinary resolutions number 1.1 
and 1.2 are to elect for appointment, in accordance with the MOI and by way of a series of votes, each of 
which is on the candidacy of a single individual, as required by the Companies Act, Mr A Gore and Dr NJ 
Dlamini as directors of the Company.

2.  Ordinary resolution number 2
      Election of additional director

“Resolved that Mr F Chothia is elected for appointment as a director."

The curriculum vitae of Mr F Chothia is attached as Annexure A at the end of the Notice, before the  
proxy form.

Additional information in respect of Ordinary Resolution number 2
Following the death of Ms DD Mokgatle, the directors have proposed the appointment of Mr F Chothia 
as a director. 

3.  Ordinary Resolution number 3
      Re-appointment of External Auditors

“Resolved that Deloitte & Touche is re-appointed as the independent external auditors of the Company, to 
hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM.”

Explanatory note in respect of Ordinary Resolution number 3
In terms of section 90(1) of the Companies Act, each year at its AGM, the Company must appoint an  
auditor who complies with the requirements of section 90(2) of the Companies Act.  Following a detailed 
review, which included an assessment of its independence, the current Audit and Risk Committee of the 
Company has recommended that Deloitte & Touche is re-appointed as the auditors of the Company until 
the conclusion of the next AGM.  It is noted that the individual designated auditor who will undertake  
the audit for the year ending 28 February 2022 is Ms Nomfundo Marivha.

4.  Ordinary resolution number 4 (comprising Ordinary Resolution numbers 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3)
      Appointment and re-appointment of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee

To appoint, by way of separate resolutions, the following independent non-executive directors as  
members of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee:

Ordinary Resolution number 4.1
“Resolved that Mr NG Payne is re-appointed as a member of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee.”

Ordinary Resolution number 4.2
“Resolved that Dr YG Muthien is appointed as a member of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee.”
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Ordinary Resolution number 4.3
“Resolved that Mr F Chothia is appointed as a member of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee,  
subject to the approval and passing of Ordinary Resolution number 2.”

Explanatory note in respect of Ordinary Resolution numbers 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3
In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the Audit and Risk Committee is a committee elected  
by shareholders at each AGM.  In terms of Regulation 42 of the Companies Act Regulations, at least 
1/3 (one third) of the members of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee must have academic  
qualifications, or experience in, economics, law, corporate governance, finance, accounting, commerce,  
industry, public affairs or human resource management. The Board is satisfied that the Company’s Audit 
and Risk Committee members are suitably skilled, experienced as contemplated in Regulation 42 of the 
Companies Act Regulations and collectively they have the sufficient qualifications and experience to 
fulfil their duties as contemplated in Section 94(7) of the Companies Act.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

1.  Special Resolution 
      General authority to allot and issue shares

“Resolved that, subject to the applicable provisions of the MOI and the Companies Act, the Board is  
authorised to allot and issue any authorised, but unissued shares at their discretion, in accordance with 
the provisions of the subscription agreement.”

Explanatory notes
The Board is granted a general authority to allot and issue any authorised, but unissued shares, in terms 
of the subscription agreement.  The Board must satisfy itself that the subscription price constitutes  
adequate consideration.

By order of the Board

C Winter
Company Secretary
22 February 2022
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ANNEXURE A: BIOGRAPHY – MR F CHOTHIA

Fareed Chothia, a chartered accountant by profession having articled at KPMG, has a career spanning  
26 years working for a number of large JSE listed & multinational companies across healthcare,  
Insurance and financial services in various corporate finance roles. He is currently Head of Corporate 
Services at Discovery Limited overseeing the Group’s South African Shared Services functions, as well 
as managing the Debt Capital Market & Treasury activities. Fareed has been involved with The SA SME 
Fund since inception supporting it through its R1.4bn capital raising and overseeing its treasury and 
finance function. 
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For use by registered shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting of the Company ("AGM") to be held at 
13h30 on Wednesday 16 March 2022.

Each shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxy or proxies (who need not be a shareholder of 
the Company) to attend, participate in and speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the AGM, and at any adjournment thereof.

Please note the following:

•  The appointment of your proxy may be suspended at any time to the extent that you choose to act directly and in person in the 
     exercise of your rights as a shareholder at the AGM.
•  The appointment of a proxy is revocable and you may revoke the proxy appointment by (i) cancelling it in writing or making a  
     later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and the Company.

Kindly note that, meeting participants (including a proxy or proxies) are required in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, No. 71 
of 2008 as amended ("the Companies Act") to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled to attend or participate  
in the AGM.  Forms of identification include a green bar-coded identification document or identification card issued by the South African  
Department of Home Affairs, a driver’s licence or a valid passport.

The SA SME Fund Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

Registration number 2016/238385/06
(‘the Company’)

I/We (print name)
Of (address)
(contact number)
being the holders of                                             ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint (see Note 1)
1.                 or failing him/her
2.                 or failing him/her
3.  the Chairman of the AGM,  
as my/our proxy to attend, participate in and speak and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf or to abstain from voting at the AGM which 
will be held for the purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, passing the resolutions to be passed thereat, with or without modification, 
and at any adjournment thereof, in accordance with the following instructions (see note 2).

Insert the number of votes exercisable (one vote per share)

Note: Insert an “X” in the relevant spaces above or the number of votes exercisable (one vote per share) according to how you wish your vote to be cast. An “X” in the 
relevant spaces above indicates the maximum number of votes exercisable. If you wish to cast your votes in respect of a lesser number of shares than you own in the 
Company, insert the number of shares held in respect of which you wish to vote.

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

1.  Ordinary Resolution number 1:  
      Election of directors

      1.1.  Mr A Gore

      1.2.  Dr NJ Dlamini

2.  Ordinary resolution number 2: 
      Election of additional director

3.  Ordinary resolution number 3: 
      Re-appointment of external auditor

4.  Ordinary resolution number 4: 
      Appointment of independent Audit and Risk Committee

      4.1.  Mr NG Payne

      4.2.  Dr YG Muthien

      4.3.  Mr F Chothia

5.  Special Resolution: General authority to allot and issue shares

Signed at                                     on               2022

Signature  

Assisted by me (where applicable)

  

Please read the summary of the rights in respect of proxy appointments established by Section 58 of the Companies Act  

and instructions overleaf.

Form of Proxy
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Summary of shareholders’ rights in respect of proxy appointments as contained in Section 58 of the 
Companies Act

Please note that in terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

•   This form of proxy must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing the proxy.
•   You may appoint an individual as a proxy, including an individual who is not a shareholder of the 
     Company, to participate in, and speak and vote at, the AGM, on your behalf.
•   Your proxy may delegate his/her authority to act on your behalf to another person, subject to any
     restriction set out in this form.
•  This form of proxy must be delivered to the Company before your proxy exercises any of your voting
     rights as a shareholder at the AGM.  
•  The appointment of your proxy or proxies will be suspended at any time to the extent that you choose
     to act directly in person in the exercise of any of your rights as a shareholder at the AGM.
•  The appointment of your proxy is revocable unless you expressly state otherwise in this form of proxy.
•   As the appointment of your proxy is revocable, you may revoke the proxy appointment by – (i)  
     cancelling it in writing or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and (ii) delivering a copy
     of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and the Company. Please note that the revocation of a
     proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of your proxy’s authority to act on
     your behalf as of the later of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the date on which
     the revocation instrument was delivered to the proxy and the Company as aforesaid.
•  If this form of proxy has been delivered to the Company, as long as that appointment remains in effect,
     any notice that is required by the Companies Act or the MOI to be delivered by the Company to you
     must be delivered by the Company to you or your proxy or proxies, if you have directed the Company
     to do so, in writing, and paid any reasonable fees charged by the Company for doing so.
•  Your proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting rights of yours without 
     direction at the AGM, except to the extent that this form of proxy provides otherwise.
•  The appointment of your proxy remains valid only until the end of the AGM or any adjournment or
     postponement thereof, unless it is revoked by you before then on the basis set out above.
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Instructions on signing and lodging the form of proxy

1.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the 
     shareholder’s choice in the space/s provided, with or without deleting “the Chairman of the AGM”, but
     any such deletion must be initialled  by the shareholder. Should this space be left blank, the Chairman
     of the AGM will exercise the proxy. The person whose name appears first on the form of proxy and
     who is present at the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

2.  A shareholder’s voting instructions to the proxy  must be indicated by the insertion of an “X” or the
     number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate spaces provided. An “X” in the
     appropriate box indicates the maximum number of votes exercisable by that shareholder. Failure to do
     so shall be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the AGM, as he/she
     thinks fit in respect of all of the shareholder’s exercisable votes. A shareholder or his/her proxy is
     not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by his/her proxy but the total number of votes cast, or this
     in respect of which abstention is recorded, may not exceed the total number of votes exercisable by
     the shareholder or by his/her proxy.

3.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing
     his/her legal capacity are produced.

4.  Forms of proxy (which form is included with this notice of AGM) must be lodged with the Company
     at First Floor, Building 1, 5 Second Road, Hyde Park, 2196 or emailed to caryn@sasmefund.co.za to be
     received by the Company by no later than 13h30 on Monday 14 March 2022, being not less than
     48 (forty eight) hours before the AGM to be held on Wednesday 16 March 2022 at 13h30 in accordance
     with clause 24.3.2 of the MOI.  

5.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative
     capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless waived by the Chairman of the AGM.

6.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from
     attending the AGM via the electronic platform and speaking  thereat to the exclusion of any proxy or
     proxies appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so.

7.  The completion of any blank spaces on the form of proxy need not be initialled. Any alterations or
     corrections to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

8.  The Chairman of the AGM may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed other than in
     accordance with these instructions provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholder
     wishes to vote. 

Notes to form of Proxy (Continued)
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The SA SME Fund Limited’s directors
The following were the directors of the Company during the current financial year and to the date of 
distribution of this notice:

Non- Executive directors
A Gore
F Chothia (appointed 7 June 2021)
NJ Dlamini
DD Mokgatle (deceased 9 January 2021)
YG Muthien 
NG Payne 
LM Klein (alternate)

Executive directors
KM Gordhan (appointed 13 November 2020)
CT Winter (appointed 13 November 2020)

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche
5 Magwa Crescent
Waterfall City
Waterfall
2090

Company Secretary
C Winter 

Registered Office
1 Discovery Place, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 786722, Sandton, 2146

The SA SME Fund Limited
Registration number: 2016/238385/06
Company tax reference number: 9328138194

www.sasmefund.co.za

Administration
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